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Financial Highlights

QAR ‘000s
2016 2015 201420172018
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15.06%
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2.06%

647,720
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29.0%
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665,566
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26,861,40528,936,299
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15.62%16.94%

Net Profit

Total Assets
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Return on Average Assets

Total Liabilities

Return on Average Equity

Shareholders’ Equity

Cost to Income Ratio

Capital Adequacy Ratio

2018 | Total Assets
40,402,892,000

2018 | Net Profit
665,566,000
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Board of Directors’ Report

For 35 Years Ahlibank has been 
at the heart of the community 
- supporting the vision of our 
leaders, fostering economic 
growth and upholding our 
commitments to our customers.

Dear Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am delighted to present Ahlibank’s 
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

In 2018 the Bank completed 35 years of serving Qatar’s economy and 
the Qatari community at large. Like many years before, our performance 
was steady and consistent focused on our long-term goals and our 
Bank’s vision. 

Our performance was testament to our conscientious and prudent 
approach, rewarding us once more with a solid and steady financial 
performance for the year ended 2018 and I am pleased to report 
positive results for our Bank for the year 2018, achieving a net profit of 
QAR 665.6 million compared to QAR 639.7 million for the year 2017, 
with earnings per share equal to QAR 3.16 (QAR 3.04 in 2017). Total 
assets grew to reach QAR 40.4 billion compared to QAR 39.9 billion at 
the end of 2017.

The Bank continues to have a high quality credit portfolio, whereby 
Non-performing Loans (NPLs), (excluding performing loans under 
watch list) stood at 1.69% by year end. 

As a result of the stable performance for the year 2018, and taking 
into consideration the benefit of the shareholders and the Bank, and to 
support the Bank’s growth as well as its capital adequacy ratio, and to 
build additional reserves to hedge against future risks which will ensure 
long-term value for the shareholders, the Board recommended and 
approved the distribution of cash dividends at the rate of 10% and 
free shares at the rate of 10%.
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Maintaining appropriate levels of committed stable funding remained a priority for the Board of Directors. 
To this extent, the Bank increased and extended circa USD 200 million committed stable funding via the 
first tranche of a new USD 100 Million Asian Club Loan and the extension and increase of bilateral facilities 
in December of 2018. This, coupled with strong asset quality and stable relationships within our Corporate 
Banking Department, contributed to both Moody’s and Fitch Ratings agencies’ revised outlooks from negative 
to stable. Moody’s affirmed Ahlibank’s A2/Prime-1 deposit rating, while Fitch Ratings also affirmed for 
Ahlibank’s Long Term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) at ‘A’. These ratings moved in parallel with those of Qatar’s 
economic performance and are testament to our own sustainable financial performance and asset quality. 

Investment in new and innovative technology remained an important pillar to our strategy, with Ahlibank at the 
forefront of NFC adoption across its ATM network in Qatar. Pioneering this customer centric technology, 2018 
saw Ahlibank as the first in the market to provide contactless cards and ATMs. 

Our commitment to the digital space will continue, as will our cautious approach and safeguarding of customer 
information and transactions data through strong cyber security and corporate governance. 

Throughout our 35-year journey, we have been proud to recognise the contributions our people make to the 
success of our Bank and their individual achievements. Accordingly, during the year we honoured colleagues 
for their long-service and commitment to our Bank.

STABLE OUTLOOK
from Moody’s and Fitch Ratings
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, I extend our sincere appreciation and 
gratitude to His Highness Sheikh Tamim Bin Hamad Al-Thani, the Emir for 
his wise leadership, may God protect him, and to His Excellency the Prime 
Minister Sheikh Abdullah Bin Nasser Bin Khalifa Al-Thani and His Excellency 
the Minister of Finance and His Excellency the Minister of Economy and 
Commerce for their guidance and support. We also extend appreciation to His 
Excellency Sheikh Abdulla Bin Saoud Al-Thani, the governor of Qatar Central 
Bank, and his deputy, Sheikh Mohammed Bin Hamad Bin Qassim Al-Abdullah 
Al-Thani, and all the Qatar Central Bank staff for their dedication to the 
Banking community.

The loyalty of our customers and unwavering support of our shareholders is 
paramount to our achievements and we are truly grateful for your trust and 
dedication to our Bank. 

Finally, I would like to thank the Board of Directors, the Bank’s management 
team and employees for their efforts, enabling the results achieved during 
2018, you all remain an integral part of the Bank and your contributions are 
greatly appreciated. 
 
In conclusion, I ask God Almighty to help us along our journey as we move 
past this proud milestone and beyond, to achieve even greater prosperity and 
success, contributing to our community and the vision of our beloved country.

Al Salamu Alaikum

Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani
Chairman & Managing Director

AT THE FOREFRONT OF NFC
adoption across ATM network
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Board of Directors

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani
Chairman and Managing Director

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 2005, and as Chairman of the 
Board since 2011. Holder of a Bachelor of Finance, Suffolk University, 
Boston, United States of America.

Sheikh Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al-Thani
Deputy Chairman

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 1997 and has been the Deputy 
Chairman since 2013. He is currently the Chairman and Managing 
Director of Qatar General Insurance and Re-Insurance Company. 
He is also a Board Member of World Trade Centre (Qatar), Al-and Sari 
Trading Company (Qatar). He holds a bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration. 

Sheikh Faisal Bin Thani Bin Faisal Al-Thani
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 2014. He is currently the Head 
of Regional Portfolios at Qatar Investment Authority, a Board Member 
of Nakilat and a Board Member of Qatar Insurance Company. Holder of 
Bachelor of Business Administration - Marymount University, Virginia, USA 
and an Executive master’s in business administration from HEC Paris.

Sheikh Salman Bin Hassan Al-Thani
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since May 2017. He is currently the 
Chief Financial Officer at Qatar Foundation, overseeing the finance, 
strategy and risk functions. He holds a bachelor’s degree in banking 
and financial studies from Qatar University.
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Sheikh Jassem Bin Mohammed Bin Hamad Al-Thani
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 2014, and he is a Board 
Member of Mohamed Bin Hamad Holding Company (Qatar). He holds a 
bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Plymouth University 
in London, United Kingdom.

Sheikh Fahad Bin Falah Bin Jassem Al-Thani
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 2015. Holder of Bachelor of 
Finance - George Washington University, United States of America.

Victor Nazeem Reda Agha
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 2005. He is currently the General 
Director of Al-Sadd Travel Agency, Qatar and Al-Sadd Exchange 
Company, Qatar. He is a Board Member of Doha Insurance Company 
and Al-Majda Real Estate Investment Company.

Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro
Board Member

Serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 1995. He is a 
Board Member of Qatar Cinema and Film Distribution Company, Doha. 
He previously held the position of Plenipotentiary Ministerial Envoy at 
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Doha.
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Executive Management Statement

Prudent planning and the execution of core strategic goals enabled our 
business to remain strong and profitable, once again reporting a solid 
and steady financial performance. 

Adhering to international standards, including Basel III, continued to be 
a strong focus of our Bank. We remained committed to meeting local 
and international requirements, with industry-leading financial KPIs that 
bolster our stability and pave the way for sustainable growth.

Our efforts were clearly recognised through the positive revision of our 
credit rating outlook from ‘negative’ to ‘stable’ by both Moody’s and 
Fitch Ratings.  

Committed to our National Vision

Ahlibank continued to play an integral part in supporting Qatar National 
Vision 2030 by financing new projects aimed at delivering core 
infrastructure. These include the Doha Metro, logistics parks, stadiums, 
roads and highways.

Serving the local community

Offering products and services that our customers desire, forms 
part of our commitment to serving our local community. In 2018, 
Ahlibank successfully rolled out several significant product and service 
enhancements. Customers now have access to Bancassurance 
products, ATM payment services, contactless payments and Visa 
Checkout, to name a few. Many of the year’s enhancements contributed 
to Ahlibank’s fee-based revenue streams. 

Strong governance, a robust business strategy and a diverse and 
stable funding structure has placed our Bank favourably against 
our peers.

Mahmoud Malkawi | Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Liquid Assets 
( as a % of Total assets )

Total Assets Growth 
30.6% 

Total Liability Growth 
0.90% YoY 1.30% YoY 

Capital Adequacy 
18.2%

Balance Sheet

Stable funding
( as a % of liabilities )

Provisions CoverNon-Performing Loans Cost/Income
17.6% 134% 1.69% 28.1%
Management

ROE ROA
12.6% 1.70%
Performance

A 100% QATARI
owned Bank

High-quality and stable funding base

Our pro-active approach for seeking opportunities of long-term stable funding continued during the year. We 
successfully increased and extended committed stable funding. The EMTN Programme has been kept live to 
ensure that we are ready to seize any opportunity at short notice. These contributed to the enhancement of 
our funding mix and further bolstered our strong and stable position. 

35 Years - with you. 

The year 2018 was a milestone for the Bank, its 35th Year in Qatar. As we look back, we see just how far we 
have come and the many notable achievements made along our journey. As we look forward, we approach the 
coming years with gratitude, appreciation and optimism. We are a 100% Qatari owned Bank, we take great 
pride in our country and we remain committed to our vision - to be at the heart of the community.
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Retail & Private Banking 

Innovation in local banking

The year 2018 saw our digital strategy take shape as we launched market-
leading services across our distribution channels that maximised banking 
efficiency and enhanced our customers’ overall banking experience.  

The balance of technology, efficiency and customer needs is integral to our 
retail and private banking offering. During the year, Ahlibank became the first 
Bank in Qatar to enable Near Field Communication (NFC) transactions on its 
ATMs. Partnering with NCR Corporation, Ahlibank further enhanced its already 
upgraded ATM network by implementing this market-leading solution that 
extends the tap and transact use of Ahlibank debit and credit cards from retail 
outlets to Ahlibank ATMs in Qatar. This world-class service provides Ahlibank 
customers with access to a quick and secure service for cash withdrawal and 
other ATM services without the need to insert their debit or credit card.  

Our digital strategy and omni-channel approach to banking services has 
driven many of the enhancements made to our branches, ATM network and 
online services. At the beginning of the year, Ahlibank re-engineered the PIN 
creation and re-set process to enable customers to actively set up and manage 
their PINs via ATM, IVR, mobile banking, online banking or through one of the 
Ahlibank branches across Qatar. This initiative gives customers the power 
they need to manage their access to their personal finances across the many 
channels available without the need for a PIN mailer. 

To further support our commitment to providing access to everyday services, in 
2018, Ahlibank partnered with Ooredoo, a leading international communications 
company, to provide Ahlibank customers with Ooredoo bill and top-up 
services via their ATM network. Launched in response to a growing demand for 
alternative payment channels, this additional ATM service, along with the recent 
cash and cheque deposit service enhancements, provides greater accessibility 
to services customers frequently need. 

Ahlibank led the way in 2018 with the successful launch of 
its multiple first-to-market banking services and product 
enhancements that meet the needs of our retail and private 
banking customers.   

Hassan AlEfrangi | Deputy CEO—Retail and Private Banking 
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Qatar’s e-commerce industry is rapidly growing with more products and services being purchased online and 
with customers desiring simpler methods of secure online payment. In 2018, Ahlibank launched Visa Checkout 
for its credit and debit cardholders to simplify online shopping and as part of its overall retail banking digital 
strategy.

Enhanced product line

During the year, we continued our branch renovation project with the Mirqab and Aziziya branches completed. 
The new look branches offer state-of-the-art technology in a contemporary and welcoming environment.  

Retail and private banking play a significant role in supporting the financial stability and growth of the Bank. 
In 2018, we partnered with Qatar General Insurance and Reinsurance Company to provide our customers 
with access to Bancassurance products, including travel insurance and motor insurance products. This new 
product line supports the fee-based income stream of the Bank whilst providing customers wider access to 
these essential products. 

For our private banking customers, we continued to expand our product offering to include partial capital 
guaranteed structured investments that provide risk-adjusted returns with the potential to meet our customer’s 
objectives. Furthermore, we continued to invest in the continuous professional development of our private 
banking team. This commitment to training ensures we are able to provide the outstanding level of service 
Ahlibank private banking customers expect to receive at every touch-point in their user-experience journey 
with us. Additionally, through collaboration with other departments within the Bank, we extended the in-house 
support we provide our private banking customers by leveraging the skills and experience of our corporate 
and retail banking colleagues for a complete and personal banking experience. 
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A rewarding experience with Ahlibank

Throughout 2018, Retail and Private banking continued its efforts to provide more customers with greater 
rewards for their commitment to the Bank. In August, Ahlibank launched its exclusive school fees campaign 
for all Ahlibank credit cardholders, offering them a chance to win back school and college fees paid locally and 
internationally with an Ahlibank credit card. 

Creating and embedding the habit of saving for the future is an important part of financial security for every 
individual. The Ahlibank Al Rabeh prize draw was again well received during the year, distributing a total value 
of QAR 5.8 million worth of prizes to 164 Al Rabeh account holders and in the process producing two lucky 
millionaires.   

We understand that our customers appreciate true value-added benefits and, during the year, we partnered 
with more companies for an even better Pearl Rewards programme. Qatar Airways became a Pearl Rewards 
Partner, enabling Ahlibank customers to redeem their Pearl Points for Qmiles with Privilege Club, Qatar 
Airways’ loyalty programme. 

Outlook

The digital transformation of our Bank’s Retail and Private Banking Services is on track and we will continue to 
invest in this area, providing our customers with quicker, simpler and more convenient secure digital services. 
Apart from providing the access that we know our customers want, this approach supports our interest and 
fee incomes focus, contributing to the Bank’s overall diversification of funds.

We remain focused on our omni-channel approach and customer-centric strategy, listening to our customers 
and developing our services to meet their needs. We are at the heart of the community and we will continue to 
provide the most personal banking experience, using new technology and new ways to help our customers. 

PROUD OF OUR 
35-YEAR HISTORY.
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Corporate Banking

Contributing to the ongoing infrastructure development by 
financing new projects across our country to achieve a measured 
growth whilst keeping a close watch on the quality of our assets 
was our primary goal in 2018. 
 
Shekhar Agarwal  |  Head of Corporate Banking

Delivering our 
strategic promises

Quality assets and steady growth remained our focus in 2018 as we continued to be a strong and 
reliable partner of choice to our corporate customers. With a diverse yet stable funding base we 
successfully maintained our margins despite the rising cost of funds. 

Digital transformation also played a key role within Corporate Banking, as we continued to simplify 
our online transactional and support services, thereby, providing greater efficiency and control to our 
customers. 

A Bank of choice

During the year, we continued to service the community through creating collaborative partnerships 
with our customers which helped strengthen trusted relationships. This also had a positive impact on 
our asset growth.   

A notable achievement was the successful financing of a green-field Logistics Park, under Manateq. 
In a transaction that involved other Qatari banks too, Ahlibank drew on its experience to play a 
lead role as the Facility and Security Agent as well as the Account Bank. This project will directly 
contribute to the Qatar National Vision 2030. 
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Supporting the Qatari community

As a local Qatari Bank, we strive to support our Qatari clients with projects that are fundamental to the 
country’s development and self-sustainability vision. 

We financed various Qatari led projects across diverse sectors in line with the above philosophy. These 
projects include a brand new, state-of-the-art student campus for an international school, a drinking water 
bottling plant, a Chlor-Alkali Complex, the country’s first full cycle poultry farm and a state-of-the-art Medicare 
Centre. 

Outlook

As the government continues to support infrastructure development projects across Qatar, we will strive to 
remain a reliable banking partner for our corporate clients and continue to finance projects that meet the 
needs of our country’s growth aspiration. 

The year 2019 will once again be one of asset quality over quantity, robust monitoring and strong collaborative 
relationships. 
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International Banking

We have built upon years of successful roadshows and strong 
stakeholder relationships to once again contribute significantly to 
the overall stability, growth and ratings of the Bank.  

Trevor Bailey  |  Head of International Banking

As with previous years, our focus during 2018 was on the Bank’s steady 
growth and strong asset quality. We remained the cornerstone of our 
Bank’s stable funding, utilizing our well cultivated relationships and 
trusted approach to source further funding avenues for the Bank.

A Stable Outlook

Our commitment to this long-term sustained performance strategy was 
recognised at the New Age Banking Summit 2018 awards ceremony 
where Ahlibank was awarded ‘Best Bank in Asset Quality’ in Qatar. This 
award cements our leading position in asset quality. 

We continued with our transparent and open lines of communication 
internationally, including with ratings agencies. In 2018, both Moody’s 
and Fitch Ratings agencies positively revised Ahlibank’s outlook from 
negative to stable in line with the upgrading of the credit rating outlook 
for the State of Qatar. This was an affirmation of Qatar’s flourishing 
economy and stable banking system. Furthermore, this positive revision 
ranks our Bank second highest amongst the conventional banks in 
Qatar.  
 
Once again, the International Banking team attended the IMF and 
SIBOS events in October 2018. Held in Indonesia and Australia, 
respectively, these annual events provide an opportunity for the 
international banking community to nurture existing international 
relationships as well as build new ones. Additionally, through the 
promotion of our Bank and our country’s achievements, we are able to 
open the door to potential funding commitments and a more diversified 
investor base. 
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International Investor Diversification

Building on years of successful Ahlibank Roadshows, in 2018 we increased and extended circa USD 200 
million of committed stable funding. This included an initial USD 100 million ASIAN club loan and two 
committed bilateral facilities with International Banks which were at competitive pricing during extremely 
difficult market conditions. International Banking is now responsible for the co-ordination and execution of 
over USD 1.5 billion of Ahlibank’s greater than one-year funding with a further increase expected in 2019. 
This resulted from our focus on  maintaining the appropriate levels of committed stable funding to provide 
optimal structure to the Bank’s balance sheet. Furthermore, considerable work was done to ensure the EMTN 
Programme remained live through extensive work across the Bank as well as with external stakeholders. 
Ahlibank’s EMTN Programme continues to provide us with an excellent platform to significantly enhance the 
funding mix of the Bank to meet our growth aspirations and regulatory requirements. 

Outlook 

After 35 years of being at the heart of the Qatar community, Ahlibank has been established internationally as a 
reputable Qatari Bank. Our strong partner Bank network, transparent investor relations and active approach to 
our funding strategy continue to ensure we are well positioned for future challenges. 

We will continue to work closely with trade finance and support the growing number of Qatari companies 
in Qatar and open the door for international trade links. By doing this, we will overcome any obstacles the 
embargo on the State of Qatar may have caused.  

Fundamentally, our focus will remain on ensuring our Bank continues to be well positioned for its future growth 
aspirations by providing timely and competitive committed funding opportunities.  

INITIAL USD 100 MILLION
ASIAN club loan
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Treasury and Investment

Cash flow management and the ongoing diversification of the 
liquidity strategy to fund the growth aspirations of the Bank 
remained our top priority in 2018. Challenges due to the impact of 
the regional geopolitical situation decreased throughout the year, 
allowing a return to more business as usual activities in support 
of the Bank’s overall business strategy, while also addressing the 
evolving regulatory environment.

Derek Kwok  |  Head of Treasury and Investment

The domestic financial system demonstrated its strength and resilience in withstanding the significant 
headwinds of the past 18 months, creating a solid foundation upon which the Treasury and Investment 
Department was able to leverage in order to achieve its objectives. 

Closer collaboration with internal business units resulted in increased client activity, assisting our efforts to 
grow customer deposits and fee driven activities with both existing and new clients. Corporate and Retail 
Banking have broadened their customer base through our continued efforts to expand the products and 
solutions available, thereby, supporting each other to create bespoke solutions to match our client’s needs. 

The recent developments demonstrated the need to broaden and diversify the Bank’s liquidity profile, 
where the Department proactively sought to expand and strengthen both the non-resident deposit base 
and its relationships with  international financial market counterparts. This initiative greatly improved the 
diversification of cash flows, thus benefitting short and medium term liquidity management. 

The rising interest rate environment pressured the Cost of Funds and Net Interest Income, while FX and fee 
related revenues benefitted from an increase in customer activity. The investment portfolio demonstrated 
healthy year-on-year growth in line with expectations, thus ensuring the continued contribution of the Treasury 
and Investment Department to the Bank’s overall financial performance. 

The success of the Treasury and Investment Department in delivering on its mandate helped to position the 
Bank to produce a solid year-end financial result, while creating new opportunities aimed at achieving our 
long-term aspirations.
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Market Review

The US dollar strengthened against its major trading partners following 
a series of interest rate hikes that saw benchmark rates increase by 
100bps over the course of 2018. This coupled with increased trade 
tensions weighed on US equity markets, with key indices recording 
annual declines. 

The Qatar Central Bank raised its key deposit rate in-line with the US, 
while the QE’s benchmark DSM finished the year as the best performing 
Emerging Market stock index of 2018. 

While the US economy saw steady economic growth, both the United 
Kingdom and European Union experienced mixed fortunes. The UK 
economy and GBP suffered from the ongoing Brexit dilemma ahead of 
the 28 March 2019 deadline. Meanwhile, the EU navigated conflicting 
economic performance between its members, with Italy struggling to 
pass comprehensive budget measures and France facing increased civil 
unrest. 

The oil price fluctuated significantly throughout the course of the year 
where initial supply concerns saw crude trade above USD80 per barrel 
for the first time in over four years. This was  before a significant sell-off 
in the fourth quarter saw it trade at its lowest level of the year. Despite 
this, the average price for 2018 remained above USD70 per barrel. 

Outlook

The Qatar economy has delivered strong economic and fiscal 
performances over the past year by demonstrating its resilience, 
strength and independence in addressing its challenges. This 
outstanding achievement was recognised by the major international 
rating agencies when they positively revised the credit rating outlook for 
the State of Qatar earlier in the year. 

The government and its leadership have maintained its commitment to 
major infrastructure investments as part of the Qatar National Vision 
2030, with many of these due to be completed during the course of 
2019. 

The Treasury and Investment Department remains focused on its goals 
and objectives, and will continue to collaborate with all internal business 
units and stakeholders to deliver an expanded product offering to our 
clients and increased financial performance for our shareholders.
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Information Technology

The digital transformation of Ahlibank’s infrastructure is 
fundamental to our customer-centric approach and our ability to 
offer quicker automated services to our customers. 

Karthikeyan Subramanyam  |  Head of Information Technology

Across Ahlibank, we are committed to providing our customers with market-
leading products and services that meet their needs while offering the safety 
and security expected. As such, the year 2018 saw Ahlibank embark upon its 
core banking transformation journey which will lay the foundations for further 
digitization and automation of our services across the Bank. 

During the year, Ahlibank pioneered the use of near field communication (NFC) 
technology in ATMs in Qatar. Working closely with the NCR Corporation, we 
were the first in Qatar to successfully integrate NFC enabled transactions 
technology across our ATM network. Customers of Ahlibank and other 
banks that hold contactless debit and credit cards can take advantage of 
this innovative solution. Apart from being a quick and convenient method of 
carrying out transactions at ATMs, NFC technology provides customers with 
security and protection against card skimming. 

Innovation that will elevate 
customer’s digital experience 
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Cyber security continued to be a focus for the year. To keep pace with the rapidly evolving security landscape, 
the IT Department strengthened its approach to ongoing security management across the Bank. This 
comprehensive strategy works in line with the digital transformation strategy of the Bank and provides a 
roadmap for further security enhancements such as Identity and Access Management, Privileged Access 
Management and several other initiatives. By working alongside other departments within the Bank and 
implementing best in class solutions, our Bank will continue to be at the forefront of new technology that 
meets the needs of our customers in Qatar. 

Once again, we successfully achieved re-certification for ISO27001 and PCI DSS Global Security Standards. 
Our customers can once again be confident that Ahlibank is committed to the safe and secure handling of 
their sensitive data. 

The regulatory and compliance landscape is rapidly evolving. To keep pace with local and international 
requirements and provide better oversight, we re-vamped our Anti-Money Laundering compliance system. This 
enhancement allows for comprehensive decision-making, monitoring and automated case tracking. 

Furthermore, to comply with the 2018 and 2019 changes with SWIFT and the trade finance message, we 
upgraded our Trade Finance system. This brought about significant benefits, including the automated 
processing of incoming messages and enhanced user productivity. 

Outlook

The year 2019 will be a phenomenal one from a technology perspective as we pursue major enhancements of 
our core banking system to enable the digital transformation strategy of the Bank. These changes will advance 
our Bank’s vision of providing omni-channel services that are intelligent, secure, flexible and automated. 

Cyber security will remain at the forefront of our plans as we look to deploy new tools and technologies for 
managing security in a landscape that is complex, fast changing and challenging.
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Human Resources

For 35 years our Bank has been at the heart of the community, 
encouraging and enabling Qatari youth to enter the banking sector 
as valuable members of our talented and dedicated team. 

Saad Al Kaabi  |  Head of Human Resources

During the year, we celebrated our Bank’s achievements and took pride in 
the journey we have taken over the last 35 years. It is the dedication of the 
Ahlibank team that has enabled our Bank’s continued growth and success 
over its 35-year history. It is this dedication that has continuously driven us to 
support our people through training, guidance and rewards to create the high-
performance dynamics we see today. 

Recognising service

Our commitment to developing Qatari youth and supporting them to enter 
confidently into the banking sector continued in 2018. This was accomplished 
through collaborations with local universities and by putting robust career 
development plans in place which were supported by the dedicated managers 
across the Bank. By working together, we believe we can collectively upskill, 
cross-skill and develop our people in line with Qatar National Vision 2030 and 
for the benefit of the local economy. 

The annual Ahlibank Long Service Award Ceremony recognised the 
commitment and hard work of 71 long-serving employees in 2018. The event 
gave executive and senior management as well as colleagues an opportunity 
for the Bank to show its appreciation and to convey its gratitude to these 
individuals for their loyal support.  The employees celebrated 5,10,15,25 
and 30 years of service in Ahlibank, with many showcasing strong career 
developments. 

Taking pride in our nation

Every year, Qatar National Day is one of pride and optimism as we celebrate 
our nation’s great achievements and look forward to future challenges and 
opportunities with enthusiasm and a willingness to succeed. The Ahlibank 
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team celebrated the 2018 Qatar National Day at is headquarters alongside Sheikh Faisal Bin AbdulAziz Bin 
Jassem Al-Thani - Chairman and Managing Director, the Executive Management team, employees and clients. 
The event coincided with Ahlibank’s 35-year anniversary celebration and provided an opportunity for the 
Bank’s leaders to reaffirm their commitment to Qatar’s economy, people and future. 

Outlook

The constant professional development of our people will continue to be a primary goal for the Human 
Resources Department as the Bank strives to create high-performing teams which are well managed and 
expertly equipped to deliver customer-centric results. 

The planned digital transformation of the Bank will bring about changes in the way our people use the 
technology to which they have access. We are dedicated to supporting individuals to exploit the full potential 
of these enhancements through training as well as peer group and managerial support. It is by investing in 
these areas that we will support the overall objectives of the Bank.

Enhancements in 
technology will give 
rise to new avenues for 
professional development 
among our employees.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Our corporate responsibility programme covers a vast number of 
areas and is intended to raise awareness of important issues within 
our community and support these either financially or with the 
assistance of our team members. 

At the heart of the community

Since its establishment in 1983, Ahlibank has taken its role in the community 
seriously by developing a CSR programme that supports research and 
awareness in education, health and sport. 

We have used our position within the community to support charitable 
organisations, government initiatives and individuals in order to make a 
difference in our country. 

During 2018, we continued our mission to support key areas that raise 
awareness among the public, while offering personal or financial support. 
In this regard, Ahlibank organised a blood donation campaign at its Head 
Office in partnership with the Hamad Medical Corporation (HMC). This was 
undertaken to support the Blood Bank in Qatar and to raise awareness about 
the importance of donating blood. 
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Many Ahlibank employees were proud to support the cause and learn more 
about the contribution they were making to their community through the 
giving of blood. 

In line with Ahlibank’s commitment to be at the heart of the community, and 
playing its role in community development, the Bank once again donated 
to the Qatar Society for Rehabilitation of Special Needs. This is a non-
profit organisation committed to providing special education and services 
to children with disabilities. The donation signals our Bank’s commitment to 
local non-profit organisations and reflects our belief in supporting the needs 
of the community. 

To close the year and also to recognise the efforts of our people, the 
Ahlibank long-service awards ceremony honoured 71 colleagues for their 
years of service. During the event, each individual was recognised for their 
commitment to the Bank and for their personal contribution to its success. 

Outlook 

We will continue to support initiatives that will enhance and strengthen the 
development of the Qatari community. As Qatar moves forward in meeting 
the ambitious aims of the Qatar National Vision 2030, our role in community 
development will become more crucial. 

We will remain focused on our CSR programme by being at the forefront of 
supporting social causes that will have a positive impact on our country and 
its citizens. 

For over 35 years we’ve been at 
the heart of the community. 
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Risk Management

With our understanding of the dynamics of the international and 
local markets and the accompanying risks, our role is to mitigate 
and minimise the negative effects of both the systematic and 
specific risks on our results. We are committed to adopting best 
practices in order to protect and safeguard the Bank’s growth, 
while providing security and stability for our stakeholders.

Kareem M. Salem  |  Acting Chief Risk Officer

Risk management involves the identification, analysis, evaluation, acceptance, measurement, control, 
and management of all financial and non-financial risks that could have a negative impact on the Bank’s 
performance and reputation. The major risks associated with Ahlibank’s business are credit and market risks 
which include foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk. 
 
Ahlibank’s risk management policies have been developed to:

• ensure adherence to regulation; 
• identify and analyse these risks; 
• set appropriate risk limits and controls; 
• identify different approval levels; and
• monitor the risks and adherence to limits

The risk management function is not responsible for the complete elimination of risks that are typically 
embedded in any banking business. Its primary objective is to anticipate risks through set procedures 
and measures, and to minimise the impact of the Bank’s exposure to them. Where the Bank seeks to earn 
competitive returns above a degree of assumed risk, the risk management function reviews the Bank’s risk 
profile and  appetite, and financially evaluates the risk for its potential impact on the Bank’s income and asset 
value, taking into consideration changes in the political, economic, and market conditions. 

The risk management function relies on the competence, experience, and dedication of its professional staff;  
risk management best practices; sound policies and procedures; and an ongoing investment in technology 
and training.

The Board of Directors and Executive Management Team are involved in the establishment of all the risk 
processes, and the periodic oversight and guidance of the risk management function. The Board of Directors 
reviews and approves, at least annually, the Bank’s key risk management policies, including the Bank’s risk 
appetite. 
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The risk management processes are subject to additional scrutiny by 
independent internal and external auditors and the Bank’s regulators, with 
periodic reporting to the Risk and Compliance Committee, all of which help to 
further strengthen the risk management best practices.

The risk management control process at Ahlibank is based on detailed 
policies and procedures that encompass:

• Business line accountability for all risks taken, whereby each business 
line is responsible for developing a plan that includes adequate risk/return 
parameters as well as risk acceptance criteria.

• A credit risk function that entails risk identification, measurement, 
monitoring, follow-up, and control of each credit relationship. This ensures 
that the correct approval authorisations are obtained and a uniform risk 
management standard, including risk ratings, is followed and correctly 
assigned to each credit relationship and product. It also makes certain 
that all standards are in line with business policies which are clearly 
understood, monitored, and in agreement with the overall credit policy 
and the Board approved risk framework.

• The ongoing assessment of portfolio credit risk and approval parameters 
of new products, leading to an integrated limit structure that permits 
management to control exposures and monitors the assumption of risk 
against predetermined approved tolerances. The Board of Directors 
establishes comprehensive limits for each major type of risk which are 
then sub-allocated to individual lines of business and to business units.

The highlights of developments in the major risk areas with respect to the 
business, namely, credit, market, liquidity, and operational risks are as follows:

Anticipating and evaluating risk 
through set procedures and 
measures. 
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is that of potential financial loss due to failure of a counter-party to perform according to agreed 
terms. This arises principally from corporate, retail, and private banking lending, trade finance, treasury, and 
investment activities. The credit process is consistent for all forms of credit risk to a single obligor. Overall 
exposure is evaluated on an ongoing basis to ensure broad diversification and the mitigation of credit risk 
whereby potential risk concentrations by country, product, industry, and risk grade are regularly reviewed to 
avoid excessive exposure and to ensure broad diversification.

Credit risk is actively managed by a rigorous process from initiation to approval and disbursement with all 
day-to-day management activities conducted in accordance with the Bank’s well-defined Credit Policy & 
Procedures (CP&P), and ensuring strict compliance with the regulations of the Qatar Central Bank (QCB).

The Risk Management Department, in active collaboration with the business lines, sets, reviews and modifies 
risk parameters to control the overall risk profile of the portfolio. Negative trends in portfolio quality are 
measured and immediately addressed by reviewing and modifying the risk acceptance criteria or adjusting the 
risk structures.

The portfolio is actively monitored through a series of focused risk reports as defined in the CP&P. These 
reports track a series of credit problem indicators and monitor compliance with the borrower’s credit and 
collateral conditions. The aggregate amount of non-performing loans and advances to customers (excluding 
performing loans under watch list) amounted to QAR 470.67 million, which represents 1.69% of total loans and 
advances to customers (2017: QAR 292.04 million, 0.99% of total loans).
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Risk management activity is supervised at executive level by the Credit Committee. This Committee is 
responsible for:

• Approval of credit policy and procedures; 
• Approval of credit strategies and risk approval criteria for retail products; 
• Credit approval for corporate credit granting, increasing and renewing. Within its authority, it can delegate 

approval authority to risk and the Head of Business Units; 
• Approval of annual renewal of country limits; 
• Recommending to the Executive Committee risk policies and credit approvals outside of its authority; 
• Determining credit pricing and security guidelines; 
• Monitoring the portfolio risk profile of the Bank, and recommending measures to address any negative 

trend; 
•  Review the Expected Credit Loses (ECL) calculation results on a monthly basis and approve quarterly 

reports prior to submission to the regulator. 
•  Review and approve the amendments related to the IFRS9 requirements, including the migration of 

accounts to different stages; 
• Ensuring the adequacy of impaired assets provisions under the Special Assets Committee.

Ahlibank’s Risk Management Department is responsible for the establishment of a comprehensive credit risk 
culture within the Bank’s various lines of business. Through constant interaction with the business units and 
training of staff on credit risk techniques, the level of understanding of credit risk and overall risk awareness 
has substantially increased over the years.

The Risk Management Department is supporting the enhancement and development of a series of tools and 
techniques, such as rating models and scorecards. These tools support credit risk measurement and portfolio 
management. Regular stress testing and ICAAP reports are performed in compliance with QCB guidelines. 

The Bank’s credit risk exposure is also closely monitored with the aim of detecting any early-warning signals in 
order to take timely corrective action.

Market Risk

Ahlibank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market prices. Market risk arises from open 
positions in interest rates, currency, and investments in bonds and equities, and these are monitored through 
position limits. The Market Risk Department, part of the Risk Management Department, is responsible for 
monitoring the complexities of trading, dealer, interest rate, currency and investment limits, using quantitative 
risk management techniques.

The Bank has a limited appetite for proprietary trading for its own account and speculative client trading. 

The Bank calculates VaR using a one-day holding period at a confidence level of 95%, and, in compliance with 
QCB requirements, VaR using a 10-day holding period at a confidence level of 99%.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is that of being unable to meet the Bank’s funding commitments without having to raise funds at 
high cost or sell assets on a forced basis. It is measured by estimating the Bank’s funding requirements under 
different stress testing scenarios. The Bank’s liquidity management policies and procedures are designed to 
ensure adequate funding under all circumstances. For this reason, in line with Basel III requirements, the Bank 
monitors and reports the Liquid Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR).These ratios 
assist in setting appropriate liquid asset levels and defining funding strategies. Market risk regularly produces 
stress tests for LCR and NSFR.

The Bank’s Treasury Department is responsible for managing the liquidity position of the Bank within the limits 
set by the Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) and monitored by Market Risk.

ALCO exercises control over the Treasury Department’s activities. It sets limits, approves proposed funding 
strategies, and monitors the Bank’s liquidity position. Through the ALCO risk reports, the Committee monitors 
limit adherence. 
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Operational Risk

Operational risk refers to losses resulting from the inadequacy or failure of internal processes and systems or 
the materialisation of adverse external events. The Bank maintains an efficient operational risk management 
framework to measure, monitor and mitigate operational risks. 

The Bank annually performs Operational Risk Self-Assessments (ORSA) for all main processes with the aim of 
identifying and subsequently finding mitigants for the possible new risks. 

Operational incidents incurring in the course of business are reported and analysed to identify root causes and 
define corrective measures to avoid repetition.

For important processes, Key Risk Indicators (KRI) have been defined to monitor performance in line with set 
objectives. 

The Operational Risk Committee (ORC) approves ORSAs, monitors KRIs and reviews operational incidents 
with the aim of taking, when needed, corrective measures, such as introducing new or modified controls.

The Bank’s Business Continuity Plan (BCP) comprises extensive plans that are designed to minimise business 
interruption arising from internal and external disruptions, such as natural disasters or power failures. Our BCP 
is tested periodically in line with QCB requirements. 

As part of BCP, the Bank has also put in place a Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) prescribing the recovery 
process and the restoration of critical computer systems, including the local area network, database servers, 
internet, intranet, and email in the event of an interruption caused by a disaster. 

In 2018, the essential functions of the BCP and DRP were successfully tested to establish adequate levels 
of preparation to face a contingency scenario, thereby, complying with regulatory as well as auditing 
requirements.

BCP AND DRP
Were successfully tested to establish 
adequate levels of preparation.
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Corporate Governance

Dear Ahlibank Shareholders, 

Greetings,

This Corporate Governance report is based on (i) the Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015, (ii) the 
Corporate Governance Instructions issued by Qatar Central Bank in circular no. (68/2015) dated 26/7/2015 
(“Governance Instructions”), and (iii) the Corporate Governance Code for Companies and Legal Entities 
Listed on the Main Market issued by the Qatar Financial Markets Authority Board resolution No. (5) of 2016 
(“Governance Code”) collectively referred to as (“Governance Regulations”).

In order to achieve proper application of Corporate Governance, the Board is committed to applying the 
Governance Regulations and ensuring continuous application of ethical standards to protect the rights of 
shareholders and stakeholders, protecting the interests of minority shareholders, focusing on disclosure of 
information and ensuring its transparency, as well as setting the roles and responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and its committees, and Senior and Executive Management and Management Committees. 

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, and to ensure that proper Corporate Governance is applied, 
the Board exercised effective oversight in promoting high levels of transparency, disclosure, fairness and 
accountability, applying a clear segregation of roles and responsibilities between the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management.

The Board prepared this governance report for the benefit of all stakeholders.

Sincerely,

Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani
Chairman & Managing Director
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Corporate Governance disclosures 

1. Introduction

Corporate Governance comprises the processes and controls which govern the way the Bank is managed, 
and its activities are reported, including the functioning of its internal controls, having proper policies and 
procedures in place, having effective management and promoting greater transparency for the benefit of the 
Bank and its stakeholders.  

The Board of Directors of Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. (the “Bank”) is committed to applying Corporate Governance and 
to continuously enhancing and improving the Bank’s governance principles and framework in the benefit of 
the Bank, its stakeholders, including the shareholders, and to ensure that the main principles and purposes of 
Corporate Governance are in place, and such principles include, without restriction (i) protecting shareholders 
and maximizing their wealth, (ii) increasing awareness and responsibility at the level of the Board, (iii) ensuring 
equal treatment amongst shareholders, (iv) compliance with the rules of applicable laws and regulations, (v) 
enhancing transparency and disclosure, and (vi) avoiding any mix between the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board and Executive Management.

2. The Board of Directors

2.1 Composition of the Board

In accordance with article 26 of the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Board shall consist of nine members, 
out of which, (i) six members are chosen by election for a period of three years, and they were elected during 
the general assembly meeting of the Bank in 2017 and their tenure will expire upon the approval of the 2019 
Financial Statements in the year 2020, (ii) Qatar Investment Authority (“QIA”) appoints two members to 
represent it on the Board, and (iii), one independent member will be appointed and removed by a decision of 
the Board of Directors. 

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer1  of the Bank are separated and are 
not held by the same individual.

Members of the Board possess personal qualities such as integrity and good reputation, and hold the proper 
educational qualifications, experience and skills to professionally and effectively carry out assigned roles and 
to provide leadership and supervise management in the best interest of the Bank and its shareholders. 

1 Currently the Acting Chief Executive Officer holds the position of the CEO.
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2.2 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

A. The Board shall carry out its duties and responsibilities according to The Board Charter and in light of the 
provisions of the Law and Corporate Governance. A summary of the main functions and authorities of the 
Board is set out below:

1. Provide, develop and re-evaluate the work strategies, objectives and policies, and approve, supervise 
and review the internal control systems.

2. Approve, evaluate and develop the Bank’s organisational structure, and determine the functions, 
competences, duties and responsibilities of the Executive Management roles.

3. Form committees; set up their works programmes and determine their powers, duties and 
responsibilities; delegate the powers of decision taking and determine the powers of signature on 
behalf of the Bank.

4. Evaluate the current and future risks to which the Bank may be exposed; adopt risk policies and 
comply with their procedures.

5. Supervise the implementation of and evaluate and develop the programmes and procedures of work 
ensuring their adequacy and suitability.  

6. Appoint and supervise the internal control department; ensure its fairness and independency.
7. Nominate and contract with an External Auditor with high efficiency and competency, and to determine 

his fees.
8. Review the reports of Executive Management, Internal Audit and External Audit, and approve the 

interim and final accounts of the Bank.
9. Verify the validity and credibility of the Financial Statements, final account of the Bank and the results 

of the Bank’s business and uphold the rights of depositors and shareholders.
10. Ensure transparency and openness in disclosing all significant matters that affect the performance of 

the Bank; the results of the Bank’s business; and the obligations and transactions of relevant parties 
as well as all interrelated interests.

11. Support and clarify the Corporate Governance values and rules of professional conduct by adopting 
the policies and rules of Corporate Governance.

12. Organise the nomination process of Board Members in a transparent manner, and disclose information 
related to the nomination procedures to the shareholders.

13. Carry out any duties or responsibilities, which the Board sees as necessary in order to achieve the 
Bank’s objectives.

B. In addition to the foregoing, the non-executive Board Members shall pay special attention to the following 
duties:

1. Being actively involved in Board meetings and providing input to Board activities.
2. Ensure compliance with giving priority to the Bank’s interests and its shareholders in matters that may 

lead to conflict of interests between the Bank and relevant parties.
3. Assisting and providing opinion on the Bank’s strategic and business planning processes and 

constructively challenging proposals on strategy.
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4. Express their independent opinion with respect to the Bank’s strategies and policies, evaluate the 
Bank’s performance, and assess the adequacy and quality of human resources in the Bank as well as 
the approved labour standards.

5. Observe the Bank’s performance in achieving its objectives and goals; review the periodical 
performance reports and provide skills, experiences, specializations and qualifications to serve the 
best interests of the Bank and its shareholders.

6. Supervise and develop the application of Corporate Governance and its applications within the Bank.
7. Performing any additional responsibility entrusted by the Board/Board Chairman.

C. The Board shall be mainly responsible towards the shareholders, other parties, Qatar Central Bank, Qatar 
Financial Markets Authority, Qatar Stock Exchange and other official authorities in the State of Qatar.

D. The Board shall hold a minimum of six meetings annually in line with Article 36 of the Bank’s Articles 
of Association. According to Article 35), all Board meetings shall be held upon a notice issued from the 
Chairman or from his deputy in case of the absence of the Chairman. The Board shall be convened upon a 
request of two Board Members at least 15 days prior to the date of the planned meeting. The request shall 
set out date, time and place of meeting, while the notice shall provide a brief description for the planned 
agenda during the meeting. In this respect, the Board convened six (6) times in 2018.

E. The Board represents all shareholders and is committed to achieving what is in the best interest of the 
Bank and performing their duties with responsibility, good faith, diligence and care.

F. The Board Members shall have immediate and full access to information, documents and Bank-related 
records.

G. The General Assembly must be attended by all the Board Members, including Chairman of the Board 
committees, and the invitation is sent to Companies Control Department at the Ministry of Economy 
and Commerce, Qatar Central Bank, External Auditor, Qatar Financial Markets Authority, Qatar Stock 
Exchange, and key employees in the Bank, such as Chief Executive Officer, his deputies, Head of Internal 
Audit and others.
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H. The Board of Directors charter is distributed annually to new and existing Board Members with the purpose 
of ensuring their understanding of the operation of the Bank and fully recognising their responsibilities.    
The Board of Directors also has a manual which includes the following: 

S/N Subject S/N Subject

6 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board committees  

1 The Bank’s Memorandum and Articles of Association 7 Functions and powers of Executive Management 

2 Qatar Central Bank Law 8 Personal Account Dealing policy  

3 Corporate Governance Instructions (Qatar Central Bank) 9 Whistle-blowing policy and procedures  

4 Corporate Governance Code (Qatar Financial Markets Authority) 10 Conflict of Interests policy 

5 The Board Charter 11 Governance Policy 

I. The Board charter is based on the requirements of the Governance Regulations and it is binding to the 
Board.

J. The Board Charter includes in general, that the Board Members shall have qualifications and adequate 
knowledge and expertise that enable them to perform their supervisory functions and shall have the ability 
to provide professional contribution with regard to strategies, operational activities, risk assessment 
and management, compliance with laws, executive regulation, accountability, financial reports and 
communications. The Board Members shall devote enough time to perform their responsibilities towards 
the Bank.

K. Every Board Member shall perform its duties with due diligence and loyalty and shall comply with 
institutional authority as defined in the relevant laws and regulations, including Corporate Governance 
Code issued by the Qatar Financial Markets Authority and the Board of Directors Manual.

L. All Board Members shall always work on the basis of clear information and with good faith and the 
diligence required for serving the best interests of the Bank and all its shareholders.

M. All Board Members shall work effectively to comply with their responsibilities towards the Bank.

N. The Bank’s Articles of Association include clear measures to dismiss the Board Members in case of 
absence from the Board meetings. Article 33 of the Bank’s Articles of Association stipulates that “If a 
Board Member is absent from three consecutive meetings of the Board or five non-consecutive meetings 
without an excuse accepted by the Board, such Board Member shall be deemed resigned.”
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2.3 Board Members

The existing Board consists of the following members:

2017

2017

2017

2017

2019

2019

2019

2019

Non-Executive 

Executive 

Non-Executive 

Independent

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
2005, and as Chairman of the Board since 2011. 
Holder of a Bachelor of Finance, Suffolk University, 
Boston, United States of America

Sheikh Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al-Thani

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
1997 and has been the Deputy Chairman since 2013. 
He is currently the Chairman and Managing Director of 
Qatar General Insurance and Re-Insurance Company. 
He is also a Board Member of Trust Bank (Algeria), 
Trust Insurance Company (Algeria), Trust Insurance 
Company (Libya), Trust Investment, Oman Reinsurance, 
Jordanian Expatriates Investment Holding, World 
Trade Centre (Qatar), Al-and Sari Trading Company 
(Qatar). He holds a bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration.

Sheikh Jassem Bin Mohammed 
Bin Hamad Al-Thani

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
2014, and he is a Board Member of Mohamed 
Bin Hamad Holding Company (Qatar). He holds a 
bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from 
Plymouth University in London, United Kingdom.

Sheikh Fahad Bin Falah Bin Jassem Al-Thani

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank 
since 2015. Holder of Bachelor of Finance - George 
Washington University, United States of America

Election / 
Appointment

End of 
tenure Status2Name

Position and 
Ownership of shares as at 
December 31,2018

Chairman & Managing Director

He owns 2,227,346 shares 

Deputy Chairman

He owns 2,245,913 shares

Board Member

He represents Trans Orient 
Establishments which owns 
2,227,340 shares.

He owns 2,230,490 shares

Board Member

He did not personally own any 
shares.

He represents Al Maha Capital 
which owns 4,116,871 shares.

2 The status of the Executive Members is determined based on their membership of the Executive Committee and based on the definition of “Non-Executive Members” 
in the Governance Instructions.
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Election / 
Appointment

He was appointed 
by Qatar Investment 
Authority in March 
2017.

He was appointed 
by Qatar Investment 
Authority in March 
2017. 

2017

2017

End of 
tenure

Tenure ends 
upon a written 
notification 
from Qatar 
Investment 
Authority.

Tenure ends 
upon a written 
notification 
from Qatar 
Investment 
Authority.

2019

2019

Status

Non-Executive

Non-Executive

Independent - 
Executive

Executive

Sheikh Faisal Bin Thani Bin Faisal Al-Thani

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
2014. He is currently the Qatari Investment Director at 
Qatar Investment Authority, a Board Member of Nakilat 
and a Board Member of Qatar Insurance Company. 
Holder of Bachelor of Business Administration - 
Marymount University, Virginia, USA, and an Executive 
Masters in Business Administration from HEC Paris.

Sheikh Salman Bin Hassan Al-Thani4

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
May 2017. He is currently the Chief Financial Officer at 
Qatar Foundation, overseeing the finance, strategy and 
risk functions. He holds a bachelor’s degree in banking 
and financial studies from Qatar University.

Mr. Victor Nazeem Reda Agha

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
2005. He is currently the General Director of Al-Sadd 
Travel Agency, Qatar and Al-Sadd Exchange Company, 
Qatar. He is a Board Member of Doha Insurance 
Company and Al-Majda Real Estate Investment 
Company and was formerly a Board Member of Al 
Sadd Sports Club (Doha, Qatar).

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro

He has been serving on the Board of Ahlibank since 
1995. He is a Board Member of Qatar Cinema and 
Film Distribution Company, Doha. He previously held 
the position of Plenipotentiary Ministerial Envoy at the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Doha.

Name

Board Member

He did not personally own 
any shares.

He represents Qatar 
Investment Authority that 
owns 100,354,368 shares as 
at December 31, 2018.

Board Member

He did not personally own 
any shares.

He represents Qatar 
Investment Authority that 
owns 100,354,368 shares as 
at December 31, 2018

Board Member

He did not personally own 
any shares.

He represents Al-Majda Real 
Estate Investment Company 
which owns 2,315,250 
shares.

Board Member

He owns 6,301,966 shares 

Position and 
Ownership of shares
as at December 31,2018
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2.4 Board meetings and attendance 

A. The table below clarifies the attendance of the Board Members in the six (6) Board meetings in 2018, 
noting the absence was for personal reasons which were accepted by the Board and the absent members 
appointed a member as their proxy to act on their behalf:

PositionName Attendance

Chairman and Managing Director

Board Member

Deputy Chairman

Board Member

Board Member

Board Member

Board Member

Board Member

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani

Sheikh Faisal Bin Thani Bin Faisal Al-Thani 

Sheikh Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al-Thani

Sheikh Salman Bin Hassan Al -Thani 

Sheikh Jassem Bin Mohammed Bin Hamad Al-Thani

Mr. Victor Nazeem Reda Agha 

Sheikh Fahad Bin Falah Bin Jassem Al-Thani

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro 

6/6

5/6

6/6

5/6

4/6

4/6

6/6

6/6

2.5 Main issues reviewed by the Board in 2018

A. Approve the Interim Financial Statements
B. Approve a Bilateral and syndicated facilities availed by the Bank.
C. Approve the necessary arrangements for the third issue of US$ 500 million European Medium Term Notes 

to support liquidity and stable funding. 
D. Review and approval of the Bank’s organization chart.
E. Different resolutions related to the Bank’s operations, policies and strategies.

2.6 Total remuneration paid to the Board Members

The total remuneration paid to the Board Members are:
A. An amount of QAR 12,120,000 in Board fees for the year 2017 paid during 2018.
B. An amount of QAR 2,940,000 for attendance allowance and membership of the committees for the year 

2018.

2.7 Board Secretary

The Board has a Board Secretary, whose functions include recording, coordinating, and maintaining the 
minutes of all the Board’s meetings and reports submitted by or to the Board, and providing them to the Board 
Members when needed. Under the direction of the Chairman, the Board Secretary shall distribute information 
and coordinate among the Board Members and other stakeholders. 

It shall be noted that the current Board Secretary is holder of a Bachelor of Law and has over 15 years’ legal 
experience. He held several senior positions in local and international companies working as a legal counsel 
and as secretary of the Board of Directors. In addition, he attended several courses related to his job as the 
Board Secretary.
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Name

Sheikh Jassem Bin Mohammed Bin Hamad Al-Thani

Sheikh Fahad Bin Falah Bin Jassem Al-Thani

Sheikh Salman Bin Hassan Al-Thani

Position Attendance

Chairman

Member

Member

5/5

4/5

4/5

Roles and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee:

1. Consider recommendations, make necessary recommendations to the Board with regard to appointing the 
external auditors, determine audit fees, evaluate the external auditor in terms of qualifications, experience, 
resources, independence, objectivity, effectiveness, and respond to any questions in order to terminate a 
contract of the external auditors or dismiss them.

2. Review the Financial Statements before submitting them to the Board, with focus on the following:
• Any changes in accounting policies and procedures.
• Significant amendments resulting from the audit.
• Compliance with accounting standards.
• Compliance with the instructions of Qatar Central Bank and Qatar Financial Markets Authority.
• Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements applicable in the State of Qatar.

3. Discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any other matters the 
Committee needs to discuss with the external auditors.

2.8 Board committees

In accordance with the Governance Regulations, and to increase the efficiency of the Board’s control over the 
various activities and functions of the Bank, the Board has established committees, and delegated to such 
committees’ specific responsibilities and authorities to act on behalf of the Board. During the year 2018, Board 
committees, each in accordance with its relevant roles and responsibilities, reviewed different matter and 
passed resolution in relations thereto, covering areas and activities of the Bank including lending, approval of 
tenders and purchases, approval of policies, review and approval of remunerations and bonuses, and several 
other matters which are in the normal course of business.

The Board Committees are:

A- Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of three members, noting that absence of members was for personal 
reasons that were accepted by the Committee and the absent members appointed a member as their proxy to 
act on their behalf:
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Name

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani Chairman 3/3

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro Member 3/3

Mr. Victor Nazeem Reda Agha Member 2/3

Position Attendance

4. Review the contents of regular reports required or prepared by regulatory authorities, and then respond to 
these reports by the Bank.

5. Review the adequacy and completion of the plan and scope of Internal Audit, ensure coordination between 
the internal and external auditors and make sure that the internal audit process has sufficient and effective 
resources to carry out its responsibilities on an annual basis.

6. Review the adequacy and completion of the Audit Plan and provide adequate resources to meet its annual 
plan on an annual basis.

7. Consider the results of Internal Audit reports, along with any special reports required for the purposes 
of work, particularly with regard to high-risk observations, and executive management’s responses, and 
follow up the implementation of the scheduled points within the prescribed deadline.

8. The Committee shall submit to the Board any issue related to its scope of work or the Committee deems 
necessary in order to inform the Board or take the appropriate decision by the Board.

B- Risk and Compliance Committee

The Risk and Compliance Committee is composed of three members, noting the absence of a member was for 
personal reasons that were accepted by the Committee and the absent members appointed a member as their 
proxy to act on their behalf:

Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee:

1. Review the scope of risk and compliance functions and authorities and duties of directors of these 
departments.

2. Make sure that there are policies in place to manage all types of risk faced by the Bank and ensure the 
compatibility of these policies with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the effectiveness of 
the Internal Control System and Risk Management.

3. Review the reports submitted by the Risk Management and review steps taken to assess, monitor and 
control credit, operational and market risks.

4. Review the adequacy and completion of the Compliance Plan, including training on compliance, 
monitoring and reporting, and provide adequate resources for the compliance function in order to meet its 
annual plan on an annual basis.

5. Consider any matters referred by the Board to the Committee.
6. Make recommendation to the Board and present such recommendation to the Board for obtaining approval 

over the resignation or dismissal of the Head of Risk and Compliance and their employees.
7. Evaluate the performance of Head of Compliance and Risk Management and approve their salaries and 

allowances and other matters pertaining to the salaries of all employees working in these departments 
(Subject to the applicable directives of the Bank with regard to the policies of salaries and remuneration).
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Name

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani

Sheikh Faisal Bin Thani Bin Faisal Al-Thani

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro

Position Attendance

Chairman 

Member

Member

5/5

4/5

5/5

8. Review arrangements that enable employees, with confidence, to report concerns about possible 
violations in the Financial reports or other important issues along with making sure of the necessary 
arrangements are in place to manage an independent and appropriate investigation into such matters.

9. The Committee shall submit to the Board any issue related to its scope of work or the Committee deems 
necessary in order to inform the Board or take the appropriate decision by the Board.

C- Governance, Nominations and Remuneration Committee

The Governance, Nominations and Remuneration Committee is composed of three members, noting the 
absence of a member was for personal reasons that were accepted by the Committee and the absent 
members appointed a member as their proxy to act on their behalf:

Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee:

1. Study, prepare and develop strategies, polices, systems, plans and budgets based on the directives of the 
Board.

2. Approve the general structure of the system of remuneration, incentives and advantages in accordance 
with the Bank’s Articles of Association, Central Bank guidelines and the Governance Regulations and the 
Remuneration Policy.

3. Approve systems, procedures and controls for granting remuneration and allowances and update them, 
where necessary.

4. Make recommendation to the Board about the total amount of bonuses and remuneration based on the 
annual performance evaluation.

5. Make recommendation to the Board of Directors about remuneration, allowances of the Board Members 
and the Board’s committees.

6. Determine the bonuses and remuneration paid to the Chief Executive Officer and his deputies in 
accordance with the annual performance evaluation system and to the Head of Audit Department, Head of 
Compliance and the Chief Risk Officer.

7. Carry out any other responsibilities delegated to the Committee by the Board to achieve the goals of the 
Bank.



50 Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. Annual Report 2018

Name

Sheikh Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al-Thani

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro

Mr. Victor Nazeem Reda Agha

 Status3Position

ExecutiveChairman 

ExecutiveMember 

ExecutiveMember 

Other responsibilities of the Committee include:

1. Approve the opening and closing dates for nomination for Board membership.
2. Receive nomination requests for Board membership.
3. Evaluate nominees for Board membership based on the principle of fitness suitability and qualification.
4. When the evaluation is completed, the Committee shall submit the results of evaluation and its 

recommendation to the Board, which in turn will notify the Central Bank along with a list of nominees with 
the personal questionnaire of the nominee and the remaining documents and papers required two weeks 
prior to the convocation of the General Assembly meeting. The list sent to the Central Bank shall be signed 
by the Chairman of the Board.

5. Review the membership of the Board Committees, when required.

The Committee shall meet three (3) times in a year. The Chairman of the Committee or his representative may 
invite the Committee to convene whenever necessity arises. The Committee held four (4) meetings during 
2018.

D- Executive Committee:

The Executive Committee consists of three members who are:

Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee:

1. The Committee is responsible to approve any credits or loans which are in excess of Executive Management 
limits.

2. Manage and operate the Bank’s affairs according to the Annual Budget, Business Plan, and instructions related 
to the financial, administrative, operational, and credit policies approved by the Board from time to time.

3. Exercise authority delegated to the Committee by the Board regarding granting, renewing, and following up 
credit and investing and employing the funds which value exceeds the powers of the Executive Management.

4. Approve various systems and banking products, plans and budgets within the policies approved by the Board.
5. Assume any other responsibilities entrusted to the Committee by the Board to achieve the objectives of the 

Bank.

The Committee meets at the request of its Chairman or Chief Executive Officer or the Board whenever necessary. 
The Committee issues its written resolutions by passing without a meeting. The committee didn’t hold any meetings 
in 2018.

 3 The Executive Status is obtained from being members of the Executive Committee
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Name

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani

Sheikh Nasser Bin Ali Bin Saud Al-Thani

Mr. Ahmed Abdulrahman Nasser Fakhro

Position

Chairman

Member

Member

E- Tender Committee

The Tender Committee consists of three members who are: 

Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee:

1. Receive bids, procurement offers and have them documented.
2. Consider the offers of sale or purchase of properties and lands owned by the Bank or the Bank desires to 

own and make the necessary recommendations thereon to the Board.
3. Review and approve the administrative, financial and technical requirements for all tenders and auctions.
4. Consider and decide on tenders and purchase orders which values exceed a certain authority of Executive 

Management.
5. Approve the Committees authorised by the Tender Committee to open the bids and tenders submitted 

thereto.
6. When making recommendation to an accreditation body, the Committee is entitled not to adhere to 

the lowest price submitted thereto. In this case, the Committee shall disclose its justification within its 
recommendation submitted to the accreditation body.

The Committee meets at the request of its Chairman or Chief Executive Officer or the Board whenever 
necessary. The Committee issues its written resolutions by passing without a meeting.

2.9 External Advisors

The Board and its Committees may retain counsel or consultants with respect to any issue relating to the 
Bank’s affairs. Costs and expenses incurred pursuant to appointment of independent advisors or consultants 
shall be borne by the Bank.



52 Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. Annual Report 2018

Name

Acting Chief Executive Officer 
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Deputy CEO Finance, Operations and Technology
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Deputy CEO Retail and Private Banking
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Deputy CEO Business Support Services
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Executive Manager of Legal
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Head of Human Resources
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Head of Treasury and Investment
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Head of International Banking
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Acting Chief Risk Officer
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Acting Head of Compliance Officer
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

General Counsel and Board Secretary
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

Head of Internal Audit
He did not own any shares in the Bank as at 31-12-2018

1-   Mahmoud Malkawi

2-   Mahalingam Shankar

3-   Hassan AlEfranji

4-   Mohamed Al Namla

5-   Mohamed Ouf

6-   Saad Al-Kaabi

7-   Trevor Bailey 

8-   Johny AlKhoury

9-   Maher Barakat

10-   Derek Kwok 

11-   Kareem Salem

12-   Khaldoun Al-Khateeb

3. Management

The Bank’s Management is composed of the Bank’s senior employees who report to the Board or to the CEO. 
Management is responsible for preparing the Bank’s organisational chart which shall be finally approved by the 
Board. 

Members of the Management shall contribute to the implementation and development of the sound 
governance in collaboration with the Board and to ensure that operations are carried out in an efficient manner, 
and in compliance with applicable Bank’s policies and procedures and applicable laws and regulations.

Currently, the Management of the Bank is composed of the following:

The total Bonus paid to the Senior Management for 2017, which were paid during 2018, amounted to 
QAR 6,400,000.
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Nationality

Qatari

Number of 
shares

100,354,368

Share of the 
capital

47.71%Qatar Investment Authority (Directly and Indirectly)

Main Shareholders (5% and more) Classification

Governmental

4.2 Shareholding distribution according to number of Shareholders 

Governmental Private Share of the 
capital Number of Shares Number of 

Shareholders

2

0

1

0

0

31

11

25

42

822

84.49

4.03

4.69

3.10

3.69

More than one million

500,000 to million 

250,000 to 500,000

100,000 to 250,000

Less than 100,000

33

11

26

42

822

4. Ahlibank Shareholding Structure

4.1 Shareholding distribution according to Nationality

Ahlibank is a 100% Qatari owned Bank. The shareholding of major shareholders in the Bank is distributed as 
follows:

5. Compliance or non-compliance

5.1 Disclosures

As part of Ahlibank’s compliance with the Governance Instruction and Governance Code, the necessary 
actions have been taken, inter alia, in respect of the following: 

A. The Board Members regularly attended or were represented in the Board of Directors and Board 
Committees, in order to achieve the best interest of the Bank and all shareholders without discrimination 
while elevating the interest of the Bank, shareholders and all stakeholders.

B. During the year 2018, and in compliance with the Governance Regulations and practices, the Board of 
Directors performed self-assessment and independence assessment.
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C. The Chairman and Members of the Board of Directors have been notified of the obligations in Articles 98 of 
the Commercial Companies Law and Article 7 of the Governance Code and they signed an undertaking not 
to combine holding positions where it is prohibited to do so in accordance with the provisions thereof.

D. The Bank’s Articles of Association are constantly reviewed to ensure their compliance with the Governance 
Regulations. 

E. The Bank has complied with the requirements of transparency and disclosure on Qatar Exchange with 
respect to disclosing its quarterly and year-end results and other general disclosures. 

As for non-compliance, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Ahlibank is a member of the Board 
Committees contrary to the Governance Code, as the Governance Instructions issued by Qatar Central Bank 
in circular no. (68/2015) dated on 26/7/2015 prohibits the Chairman of the Board to be a member of the Audit 
Committee without prohibiting his membership of the remaining committees. In all cases, the constitution of 
the Board and Board Committees was reported to the supervisory authorities.

5.2 Additional Disclosures:

A. Regulatory Penalties: 
No penalties which have been imposed on the Bank and which fall within the ambit of clause 2 of Article 
4 of the Governance Code, during the financial year ended 31 December 2018, were material in value or 
have any adverse impact on the Bank’s activities and operations, nor resulted out of any fraudulent or 
illegal activities of the Bank.

B. Legal Cases: 
i. During the year 2018, the Bank filed several cases for recovery of debt, and where necessary, 

provisions have been taken in accordance with the QCB and IFRS rules and regulations as disclosed 
in the Bank’s financial statements. 

ii. None of the cases filed against the Bank is material in nature or may have an adverse impact of the 
Bank’s financial status or its operations and activities. During the year 2018, no judgments were 
issued against the Bank.
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Qatari Public Shareholding Company

(The Bank was established under a decree No. (40) of the year 
1983 dated on 16/6/1983. The Bank started activity on 4/8/1984. 
The Bank is licensed to practice banking business by Qatar 
Central Bank under license No.: SL/ 13/1984)

A wholly owned subsidiary of Ahlibank QSC.

(Ahli Brokerage Company was established with a capital of (50) 
million Qatari Riyals. The company is approved by Qatar Central Bank 
and is licensed from the Qatar Financial Markets Authority (QFMA) 
and is a member of Qatar Stock Market. The company started 
operation on 24/7/2011 in the trading of Financial Securities.)

Name

Ahlibank (Q.P.S.C.)

Ahli Brokerage Company LLC

A wholly owned subsidiary of Ahlibank QSC.

A company registered in the Cayman Islands and which purpose is 
to issue the European Medium Term Notes.

ABQ Finance Limited

6. Legal structure of the Bank

7. Governance of the Bank

The Bank seeks to comply with the Governance Instructions issued by the Qatar Central Bank and all 
requirements of Corporate Governance, taking into account the international standards and practices followed 
in the field of Corporate Governance. The Bank particularly has been committed to the requirements and rules 
of disclosure applicable in Qatar Stock Exchange and Qatar Financial Markets Authority. At the time of this 
report, the Bank has not committed any material violation of the legal and regulatory requirements which may 
affect its financial position.

The Bank has a robust Corporate Governance structure which has been documented and communicated 
through internal policies, forming a comprehensive system of Corporate Governance. These policies include, 
without limitation:

The Bank has a clear policy for dealing with related party transactions and conflict of interest through the 
Bank’s policy approved by the Board of Directors. This policy includes the following subjects:

7.1 Policy of dealing with personal account

This policy explains the concept of disclosure and undertaking in the trading of investment activities (through a 
form prepared for this purpose). It also details the rules and procedures for trading in such activities in addition 
to the available and named practices and periods of banning trading for the Board, Executive Management 
and the Bank’s employees. The policy also includes records of those having access, and which is under the 
responsibility of the Head of Compliance.
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7.2 Whistle-blowing Policy

This policy adopts the principle of “Whistle-blowing” in the event of any prohibited, illegal or non-professional 
practices, and also provides full protection for the employee who raised any allegations. Based on this policy, 
the Bank has an Independent Committee to study the cases of prohibited practices and take the disciplinary 
action in that regard, which may lead to dismissal from the position held. The policy also includes standards 
of compliance with good corporate governance, ethics, integrity and credibility that should be followed in 
practicing the banking business. It also involves the prohibited, non-legal, non-professional practices that lead 
to misconduct and misbehaviour. These practices include conflict of interest practices between the employee 
and the Bank or the customer, or any other parties.

7.3 Commercial Companies Law

The Bank is committed to applying the provisions of the Commercial Companies Law, which describes matters 
that should be followed in case of presence of any interests, whether directly or indirectly, of the Chairman or 
any Board Member or one of the Directors in contracts, projects and arrangements which are concluded with 
the Bank.

7.4 Instructions of Qatar Central Bank

All facilities granted to the Chairman and the Board Members and their families and relatives shall be 
presented to the Board of Directors in each meeting to make sure that these transactions were conducted in 
accordance with the limits and controls set by the Qatar Central Bank.

7.5 Code of professional ethics and practices

The code obligates all employees not to use any internal information for personal interest to avoid conflict of 
interests. The signature of all employees on this Charter means their knowledge and compliance therewith.

7.6 Human Resources Policy

This Policy includes prohibited acts by employees, whether inside the Bank or with any parties outside the 
Bank, that may lead to a conflict of interest and it explains the disciplinary procedures and sanctions imposed 
in this regard.

7.7 Communication Policy

This Policy shows the communication channels of the key personnel of the Bank from various functional levels 
with the relevant parties.
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7.8 Corporate Governance Guidelines

This is a comprehensive guide for Corporate Governance.

7.9 .Disclosure and Transparency Policy

This policy sets the requirements for disclosure and transparency in accordance with the Governance 
Regulations and other regulatory requirements.

8. External Auditors

The Auditor of the Bank shall be nominated by the Board during the General Assembly meeting, after obtaining 
the approval of Qatar Central Bank in order to appoint the Auditor for a maximum period of five years as per 
Qatar Central Bank regulations. The re-appointment of the External Auditor shall be considered only after two 
years of last appointment.

The Bank’s Articles of Association determine the mechanism of appointing the Auditor and its duties and rights 
to review, at any time, the books, records, and documents of the Bank, and to attend the meetings of the 
General Assembly and express its opinion regarding the Audit. It should be noted that the Auditor of the Bank 
for the financial year ending December 31, 2018 is M/S. Deloitte and Touche and their fees for the year 2018 
amounted to QAR 540,000. The Audit Committee has the responsibility to discuss the Auditor’s report and 
make its recommendations in this regard to the Board.

The Auditor shall be fully independent and shall attend the meetings of the General Assembly of the Bank.
 
As instructed by Qatar Central Bank, the Bank shall not proceed with any financial transactions or provide any 
facilities to the Auditor or its employees or members of their families to avoid any conflict of interest.

9. Internal Control

The Bank follows an Internal Control System approved by the Board. The Board and the senior management 
shall participate in approving all policies and methods to address general risks and to ensure compliance with 
the different law and regulations.

The Bank adopts the principle of three-level defense model for enterprise risk management as follows:

The first level of defense: 
This level is represented in various departments that define the risks and submit reports thereon; it includes 
departmental policies and procedures, employee roles, responsibilities and training, and management 
oversight of activities in line with agreed policies and procedures and the Bank’s Corporate Governance 
framework. 
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The second level of defense: 
This level includes the Risk Management Department, Compliance Department and Legal Affairs Department, 
according to their authorities and duties, to mitigate the risks which fall within their powers. These 
departments ensure that the Bank carries out its activities within the appropriate risk limits and ensure 
compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The Risk and the Compliance departments 
issue periodical reports to the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board.

The third level of defense: 
This level includes the Internal Audit Department, which shall carry out periodic reviews and evaluation to 
ensure the efficiency of internal controls and provide assurance that the first and second lines of defense 
achieve control objectives. This department submits periodic reports about its activities to the Audit 
Committee.

As at 31 December 2018, there were no failures in the Bank’s controls which had any material adverse impact 
on the financial position of the Bank or its operations in general.

The Bank’s Internal Control comprise of the following:

A. Risk Management Function

The risk management function ensures that:
i. Risk policies, procedures and methodologies are tailored in a manner that is in line with the regulatory 

guidelines and are consistent with the risk appetite of the Bank. 
ii. The overall business strategy and business activities conducted within the Bank are consistent with 

the risk appetite approved by the Board.
iii. Appropriate risk management architecture and systems are developed and implemented for the Bank.
iv. Adequate monitoring of portfolios’ risks and limitations across the Bank.

The risk management function relies on the competence, experience, and dedication of its professional 
staff for performing the above-mentioned activities. Furthermore, the Board of Directors/Board approved 
Committee and Executive Management Team are involved in the establishment of various risk processes and 
provide the periodic oversight and guidance of the risk management function. The risk management processes 
are subject to additional scrutiny by independent internal and external auditors, and the Bank’s regulators, 
with periodic reporting to the Board/Board Approved Committee, which helps to further strengthen risk 
management best practices.

The Risk Management Department shall make its recommendations under the supervision of the Risk and 
Compliance Committee. These recommendations are reviewed by the Board, which adopts the main risk 
management policies at least once every year.

The Risk Management Department shall identify, analyse, evaluate, accept, measure, manage, and control all 
financial and non-financial risks that may have a negative impact on the performance and reputation of the 
Bank. The main risks associated with the business of the Bank are represented in the credit, operational, and 
market risks, which include foreign currency exchange, interest rates, stock prices, and liquidity, in addition to 
the operational risks and reputation-related risks.
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The Bank, as part of the conservative policy for managing the market risks, applies conservative limits and 
restrictions in order to harmonise with the investment and trading portfolio and to be compatible with the 
business development needs and market conditions.

The Operational Risk Committee approves on an annual basis the self-assessment process for the operational 
risks arising to execute the various banking businesses in the Bank. The Committee shall conduct a periodic 
follow-up and provide the appropriate controls, if necessary, in light of the nature and quality of these risks 
and their frequency and causes.

In case of disasters, the Recovery Plan and Business Continuity Plan is held by an independent External 
Auditor and the Qatar Central Bank.

B. Compliance Function

The Compliance function is responsible for identifying, documenting and assessing the compliance risks 
associated with the Bank’s business activities and also aims to identify possible regulatory breaches. The 
Compliance risks include risk of legal / regulatory sanctions, material financial loss and loss of reputation as a 
result of not complying with the applicable laws, regulations and standards.

Results of compliance assessments are reported to the Board Risk and Compliance Committee and relevant 
Executive Management persons on a quarterly basis. The Compliance reports summarise breaches and 
recommend corrective actions already taken and those which shall be taken in accordance with agreed target 
dates.

C. Internal Audit Function

Internal Audit function is an integral part of the control environment of the Bank. It derives its delegated 
authority and mandates from its charter that is approved by the Board Audit Committee. It reports functionally 
to the Audit Committee and administratively to the Chief Executive Officer.

The Bank’s Internal Audit Department is an independent department that provides objective assurance and 
consulting activities designed to add value and improve the Bank’s operations. It helps the Bank accomplish 
its objectives by bringing a risk based systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.

The Bank’s Internal Audit Department has adopted QCB and QFMA guidelines in addition to the International 
Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), developed and maintained by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA). 
During the Year 2018, the Bank’s Internal Audit Department received a “Generally Conforms” rating by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Quality, it is the maximum rating that is assigned when the structure, policies 
and procedures conform to the requirements of the Standards.  
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10. Management Committees

The Bank has a number of internal committees, which manage the day-to-day operations and activities of the 
Bank. Amongst the Bank’s management committees are:

i. The Asset-Liability Committee: 
The committee regularly holds its meetings over the year, shall be responsible for managing the assets and 
liabilities of the Bank and complying with and following up the approved liquidity policy.

ii. Special Assets Committee: 
The Committee is responsible for Special Assets, being assets of the Bank, which require monitoring and 
control in order to prevent loss, ensure recovery, restructuring, collection or legal actions.
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that recovery actions are taken with respect to all special assets 
and that the applicable regulatory requirements for provisioning on special assets are implemented in 
accordance with regulatory requirements and internal policies.

iii. Credit Committee
The Committee holds regular monthly meeting to review the Corporate Banking, Retail Banking, and 
Private Banking exposures and to discuss the Corporate Banking Pipeline. Approvals on facilities take 
place by circulation, while any exception or elevations are discussed during the committee meetings. 
The Committee exerts all possible efforts to ensure the quality of the Bank’s assets and mitigate the risks 
inherited in the lending business.  

iv. Investment Committee
The Committee regularly holds its meetings over the year and is responsible for reviewing the investment 
strategy of the Bank to ensure maximizing the assets return while maintaining the boundaries within the 
regulatory requirements. 

v. Operations Risk Committee
The Committee holds meetings on a quarterly basis to review the Operational Risk incidents and required 
action plan to rectify. The Committee is also responsible for the Disaster Recovery Plan and follow-up for 
the required procedures to keep the Disaster recovery site ready for any unanticipated risks.

11. Related Party Transactions

During the year 2018, and in accordance with the instructions of the Qatar Central Bank, all transactions 
related to the Board Members, and the facilities granted to them and to their families, relatives, and 
subsidiaries, were presented during each Board meeting to ensure that such transactions have been 
conducted in accordance with the permitted limits set by the Qatar Central Bank, and after obtaining the 
necessary approvals.

As of 31 December 2018, there were no major related party transactions in the Bank’s book that require 
shareholders’ approval.
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12. Shareholders’ Rights

The shareholder shall have the right to examine the register of shareholders in the Bank during the official 
working hours of the Bank free of any charge. Every interested party is entitled to request the correction 
of data contained in the record, especially if any person is logged or removed from the record without 
justification, based on Article No. (11) of the Bank’s by-laws. The shareholder is entitled to obtain a copy of 
the Memorandum of Association and by-laws of the Bank. As the Bank is listed in the Qatar Stock Exchange, 
the Bank shall comply with the provisions of the internal regulation of the market, regulations, laws and 
instructions regulating trading of securities in the state by disclosing and providing information and documents 
required for all shareholders.

Chapter Five of the Bank’s by-laws describes the shareholders’ rights with regard the General Assembly of the 
Bank, fair treatment of the shareholders, the exercise of voting rights and the election of members. Chapter 
Seven includes the rights of shareholders related to dividend distribution. The Board proposes dividends 
distribution to shareholders in the General Assembly meeting and discuss and approve this distribution by the 
shareholders.

Pursuant to Article No. (50) of the Bank’s by-laws, the Board is entitled to invite the General Assembly, if 
required, and may invite the General Assembly upon the request of the auditor or a number of shareholders 
representing at least 10% of the capital, provided that the auditor or the shareholders has reasons sufficient to 
justify their calling for a meeting.

Further, the Bank’s Articles of Association was amended to protect the right of shareholders and to ensure 
that they are equal and shall have all the rights with relation to their shareholding in accordance with the 
provisions of the law and the relevant resolutions and regulations. This is reflected expressly in Article 8 of the 
Bank’s Articles of Association. Further, Article 31 of the Bank’s Articles of Association stated that the Board 
represents all the Shareholders and shall protect their rights. Moreover, Articles 53 gave every shareholder the 
right to attend the General Assembly and to approve or object on any of its decisions and resolutions. 

Accordingly, the shareholders enjoy all the rights granted to them under the relevant laws and regulations, 
including the Corporate Governance Instructions and System.
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At the heart of the 
community

13. Corporate Social Responsibility

Being an integral component of the Qatari society, the Bank is cognizant of its corporate social responsibility 
towards the Qatari community. In accordance with this approach, and to uphold the general policy of 
Qatar Central Bank and the QFMA Governance Code as per Article 39 thereof, the Bank has been active in 
contributing towards wellbeing and welfare of the community and general, preserving natural resources and 
the environment. 

In line with the Bank’s commitment to “be at the heart of the community”, and playing its role in community 
development, the Bank once again donated to the Qatar Society for Rehabilitation of Special Needs. The 
Qatar Society for Rehabilitation of Special Needs is a non-profit organisation committed to providing special 
education and services to children with disabilities. This donation signals the Bank’s commitment to local non-
profit organisations and reflects our belief in supporting the needs of the community.

The Bank also organised a blood donation campaign in partnership with Hamad Medical Corporation (HMC). 
The campaign’s objective was to contribute and support the Blood Bank in Qatar and to raise awareness of 
the importance of donating blood.

To recognise the efforts of our people, the Ahlibank long-service awards ceremony in 2018 honoured 
75 colleagues for their years of service. Throughout the event, each individual was recognised for their 
commitment to the Bank and for their personal contribution to its success. 

The Bank supports initiatives that will enhance and strengthen the development of Qatar’s community. The 
Bank has always been at the forefront of supporting social causes. As Qatar moves forward in meeting the 
ambitious aims of Qatar National Vision 2030, the Bank’s role in community development becomes more 
crucial towards supporting the development of Qatar’s community including humanitarian projects and 
charitable work, educational, training and personal development programmes, sports and health initiatives and 
other social and charitable works.

Sheikh Faisal Bin Abdulaziz Bin Jassem Al-Thani
Chairman & Managing Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Ahlibank Q.P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries 
(together the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2018, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank regulations.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Codes of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the State of Qatar, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

First-time adoption of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

The Group adopted IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
from 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in 
accounting policies and adjustments to amounts 
previously recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements. As permitted by transitional provisions 
of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate the 
comparative figures and recorded an adjustment of 
QAR 217.8 million to the opening retained earnings 
as at 1 January 2018.

The changes required to processes, systems and 
controls to comply with IFRS 9 were complex and 
significant, as the standard requires a fundamental 
change to the way, when Expected Credit Losses 
(ECL) are recognised and how these are measured.

There was a risk that:
• judgements, assumptions and estimates, which 

includes adopting a ‘default’ definition and 
developing PDs at origination, lifetime-PDs, 
and macroeconomic models with a number of 
scenarios and probabilities for each scenario 
and other post-model adjustments and 
management overlays are inadequate;

• inadequate data, as well as lack of uniformity 
in the data are used which makes it difficult to 
develop models, which are sufficient for IFRS 9 
impairment requirements.

Refer to the following notes of the consolidated 
financial statements:
• Note 3c – Significant accounting policies on 

financial assets and financial liabilities
• Note 3y(i) – Significant accounting policies on 

application of new and revised IFRS
• Note 4 – Financial risk management
• Note 7 – Accounting and classification of 

financial assets and liabilities

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We updated our understanding of the Bank’s 
adoption of IFRS 9 and identified the internal 
controls including entity level controls adopted 
by the Bank for the accounting, processes and 
systems under the new accounting standard.

In addition, our work performed include the below 
procedures:
• evaluated the appropriateness of key technical 

decisions, judgments and accounting 
policy elections made by the Group to 
ensure compliance with IFRS 9 impairment 
requirements.

• evaluated, with the assistance of our 
specialists, the reasonableness of 
management’s key judgements and estimates 
made in the ECL calculation, which include but 
not limited to the selection of methods, models, 
assumptions and data sources.

• evaluated the appropriateness and test the 
mathematical accuracy of the ECL model 
applied.

• tested certain IT controls related to the credit 
impairment process and verified the integrity of 
data used as input to the models

• evaluated system-based and manual controls 
over the recognition and measurement of 
impairment allowances.

• evaluated post model adjustments and 
management overlays in order to assess the 
reasonableness of these adjustments.

• assessed the reasonableness of forward 
looking information incorporated into the 
impairment calculations

We have also assessed whether the related 
disclosures of this area were adequate in 
accordance with the requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards and applicable 
provision of QCB regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets, both on and off balance sheet, 
amount to QAR 44.2 billion and QAR 42.9 billion as at 31 
December 2018 and 2017 respectively. In addition, the 
expected credit loss (ECL) provisioning recognized for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to QR. 126.2 
million.

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 from January 1, 2018, which 
is a complex accounting standard that requires considerable 
judgements, which were key in the development of new 
models to measure expected credit losses on financial assets 
carried at amortized cost or at FVOCI (debt instruments). 
There is a risk that financial assets are impaired and adequate 
impairment provisions are not provided in accordance to 
requirements of IFRS 9 and the applicable provisions of Qatar 
Central Bank regulations.

Financial assets might be inaccurate due to:
• The methodologies used to develop probability of default 

(PD); loss given default (LGD); and (exposure at default 
EAD) are inappropriate.

• Inappropriate segmentation of portfolios is used to 
develop risk parameters.

• The number and range of forward-looking scenarios are 
not representative of an appropriate range of possible 
outcomes.

• Extrapolation techniques used to project scenarios and 
parameters (PD, LGD, and EAD) in future periods are 
inappropriate.

• The methodology used to allocate a probability to each 
scenario is inappropriate or unsupported.

• Significant increases (or reductions) in credit risk 
(movements between Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3) are 
not completely or accurately identified on a timely basis.

• Assumptions incorporated in the ECL model are not 
updated on a timely basis.

Refer to the following notes of the consolidated financial 
statements:
• Note 3c – Significant accounting policies on financial 

assets and financial liabilities
• Note 4 – Financial risk management
• Note 7 – Accounting and classification of financial assets 

and liabilities
• Note 8 – Cash and balances with central Bank
• Note 9 – Due from banks
• Note 10 – Loans and advances to customers
• Note 11 – Investment securities
• Note 13 – Other assets

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We have assessed and tested the design and operating 
effectiveness of the relevant controls over data governance, 
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group in 
calculating impairment allowances.

In addition, our work performed include the below 
procedures, among others on the Group’s IFRS 9 ECL model:
• For a selection of individual exposures, performed a 

detailed credit review and challenge the Group’s staging 
and impairment allowance calculation. 

• Review and assess the reasonableness and 
appropriateness of the data, assumptions and 
methodologies used within the Bank’s IFRS9 ECL 
model (PD, LGD, and EAD) and customer internal rating 
systems and methodology.

• Assessment on whether significant increase in credit 
risk (SICR) indicators are present for the financial assets 
portfolio based on IFRS9 and Qatar Central Banks 
guidance and the possible implications on the ECL 
staging and expected provisioning.

• Credit file classification supports the staging of relevant 
exposures, on a sample basis.

• Assessment of the ECL methodology, macroeconomic 
scenarios weightage, on a sample basis.

We have assessed whether the related disclosures of this 
area are adequate in accordance to the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards and Qatar Central 
Bank, as applicable.
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Key audit matter

IT systems and controls over financial reporting

We identified IT systems and controls over financial 
reporting as an area of focus because the Bank’s 
financial accounting and reporting systems are 
vitally dependent on complex technology. The 
extensive volume and variety of transactions 
processed daily raises a risk that automated 
accounting procedures and related internal 
controls are not accurately designed and operating 
effectively.

A particular area of focus related to logical access 
management and segregation of duties. The 
underlying principles are important because they 
ensure that changes to applications and data 
are appropriate, authorised and monitored. In 
particular, the incorporated relevant controls are 
essential to limit the potential for fraud and error as 
a result of change to an application or underlying 
data.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit approach relies on automated controls 
and therefore procedures were designed to test 
access and control over IT systems. Our audit 
procedures included:
• Update the IT understanding on applications 

relevant to financial reporting including the core 
banking system, Treasury system, and the Swift 
messaging and the infrastructure supporting 
these applications;

• Testing the key automated input / processing 
and output controls relevant to business 
processes.

• Testing the IT general controls relevant to 
automated controls and computer-generated 
information covering access security, program 
changes, data centre and network operations;

• Assessing accuracy and completeness of 
computer generated information used in 
financial reporting;

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board 
of Directors Report and supplementary information which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s 
report. The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs and the applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank regulations, and 
for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of user taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation preclude public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law, we are also of the opinion that proper books of 
account were maintained by the Group and the content of the directors’ report are in agreement with the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. We have obtained all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary for the purpose of our audit. To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information 
given to us, no contraventions of the applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank Law, Qatar Commercial 
Companies’ Law and the Bank’s Articles of Association were committed during the year which would materially 
affect the Group’s financial position or performance.

Doha – Qatar 
6 February 2019

For Deloitte & Touche
Qatar Branch

Walid Slim
Partner

License No. 319
QFMA Auditor License No. 120156
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 January 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

AS AT 31 DECEMBER

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central Bank

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities

Property and equipment

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and central Bank  

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Customer deposits

Debt Securities

Other borrowings

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Share capital

Legal reserve

Risk reserve

Fair value reserves

Retained earnings

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Note

10

16 (a) 

18 (d)

8

12

14

17

18 (a)

11

16 (b)

9

15

18 (c)

13

18 (b)

2018

27,300,910

3,628,605

(11,489)

2,405,483

247,835

5,729,432

957,019

2,103,604

5,500,631

5,862,489

2,497,516

1,121,114

4,099,682

40,402,892

21,594,419

34,902,261

631,078

486,493

495,270

1,656,324

40,402,892

2017

28,936,299

3,624,368

12,530

1,979,872

258,608

3,982,103

803,740

2,003,433

5,293,844

6,099,869

2,192,233

1,057,036

2,202,199

39,883,400

23,568,578

34,589,556

631,078

406,553

418,534

1,589,767

39,883,400

Sh. Faisal Bin Abdul-Aziz Bin Jassem Al Thani     Mahmoud Malkawi
Chairman & Managing Director                          Acting Chief Executive Officer

QAR’000s

The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Foreign exchange gain - net

Income from investment securities

Other operating income

Net operating income

Staff costs

Depreciation

Net impairment loss on loans and advances to customers

Net impairment loss on investment securities

Other expenses

Profit for the year

Earnings per share

Note

22

25

27

20

24

19

21

23

12

26

2018

25,340

(172,779)

3.16

(915,351)

(6,584)

11,014

(126,193)

(435,557)

1,744,638

191,143

50,923

(24,181)

(112,404)

829,287

-

184,559

1,101,123

665,566

2017

23,245

(182,694)

3.04

(765,353)

(6,574)

6,484

(66,674)

(404,700)

1,599,796

180,187

6,627

(26,794)

(109,771)

834,443

(18,767)

173,613

1,044,412

639,712

QAR’000s

The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Profit for the year

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

Net change in fair value of investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI (IFRS 9)

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

Movement in fair value reserve (Debt Instruments - IFRS 9):

Total comprehensive income for the year

Realised during the year

Net change in fair value during the year

Net change in fair value loss during the year (IAS 39)

Net amount of impairment transferred to profit or loss (IAS 39)

Amortised during the year on reclassification to loans and receivables (IAS 39)

Note

18 (d)

18 (d)

18 (d)

18 (d)

18 (d)

2018

(7,612)

-

(196)

665,566

657,954

-

(2,225)

-

(5,191)

2017

729

23,317

504

639,712

640,441

68

-

(23,160)

-

QAR’000s

The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Balance as at 1 January 2017

Profit for the year

Transfer to risk reserve

Contributions by and distributions to equity holders:

Total contributions by and distributions to equity holders

Other comprehensive income

Transfer to legal reserve

Bonus issue

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer to social and sports fund

Transactions with equity holders, recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid

Note

18 (b)

18 (a)

18 (c)

32

18 (e)

Retained 
earnings

Risk 
reserve

Share 
capital

-

(63,971)

(95,402)

1,057,036

-

-

-

631,078

-

-

95,402

2,003,433

805,066

639,712

(21,573)

(286,205)

609,505

-

21,573

-

1,908,031

-

-

95,402

639,712

(15,993)

(190,803)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total
equity

Fair value 
reserve

Legal 
reserve

729

-

-

5,293,844

729

-

-

12,530

-

63,971

-

1,589,767

4,860,199

639,712

-

(190,803)

11,801

-

-

-

1,525,796

-

-

-

640,441

(15,993)

(190,803)

729

-

-

-

-

-

QAR’000s

The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Other comprehensive loss

Transfer to legal reserve

Transactions with equity holders, recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid

Balance as at 31 December 2018

Adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 3.y)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer to social and sports fund

Contributions by and distributions to equity holders:

Restated Balance as at 1 January 2018

Profit for the year

Bonus issue

Total contributions by and distributions to equity holders

Note

32

18 (b)

18 (e)

18 (a)

Retained 
earnings

Risk 
reserve

Share 
capital

(217,778)

665,566

(16,639)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,057,036

-

(66,557)

(200,343)

1,121,114

631,078

-

-

-

631,078

2,003,433

-

-

-

2,103,604

839,258

665,566

(100,171)

(300,514)

631,078

-

-

-

2,003,433

-

100,171

100,171

Total
equity

Fair value 
reserve

Legal 
reserve

(234,185)

657,954

(16,639)

(16,407)

(7,612)

-

-

-

-

5,293,844

7,612)

-

(200,343)

5,500,631

12,530

(7,612)

-

-

(11,489)

1,589,767

-

66,557

-

1,656,324

5,059,659

665,566

-

(200,343)

(3,877)

-

-

-

1,589,767

-

-

-

QAR’000s

The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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The attached notes 1 to 34 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments for:

Net impairment loss on loans and advances to customers

Net impairment loss on investment securities

Depreciation

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property and equipment

Net gain on financial investments and mark to market of Equity classified as FVTPL (IFRS 9)

Profit before changes in working capital

Change in due from central Bank

Change in loans and advances to customers

Change in other assets

Net proceeds from other borrowings

Change in due to banks and central Bank

Repayment of subordinated debt

Change in customer deposits

Dividends paid

Change in certificate of deposits and commercial paper

Net cash generated from financing activities

Change in other liabilities

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December

Net proceeds from sale / (purchase) of investment securities

Net acquisition of property and equipment

Operational cash flows from interest and dividend

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities

Interest received

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid

Proceeds from issuance of debt securities

Dividends received

Note

12

29

23

12

16 (c)

2018

126,193

766,355

(1,974,159)

(200,343)

277,708

665,566

24,181

1,284,970

119,546

5,527,534

843,639

-

(93,773)

76,736

104,940

3,297,822

1,670,107

(44,275)

1,747,329

-

1,847,064

2,229,712

(8,097)

(5,310)

(79,940)

305,283

285,805

-

6,648

2017

66,674

747,994

(1,442,284)

(190,803)

(552,247)

639,712

26,794

(2,142,590)

(112,934)

3,297,822

734,070

18,767

189,487

(1,819,095)

1,746,224

3,977,475

1,538,790

(4,017)

2,705,838

(182,000)

(1,873,630)

(679,653)

(10,280)

64

(46)

305,284

(541,967)

1,813,743

2,610

QAR’000s
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COMPANY’S NAME

Ahli Brokerage Company L.L.C. (CR No 47943)

ABQ Finance Limited

Percentage of 
ownership

2018
Company’s 

Capital

100US $ 1

100QAR 50 million

Percentage of 
ownership

2017
Company’s

activities
Country of 

incorporation

100Debt IssuanceCayman Islands

100BrokerageQatar

1. Reporting Entity

2. Basis of Preparation

Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. (“the Bank”) is an entity domiciled in the State of Qatar and was incorporated in 1983 as 
a public shareholding company under Emiri Decree no. 40 of 1983. The commercial registration of the Bank 
is 8989. The address of the Bank’s registered office is Suhaim Bin Hamad Street, Al Sadd Area in Doha (P.O. 
Box 2309, Doha, State of Qatar). The consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 
December 2018 comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group” and individually as 
“Group entities”). The Group is primarily involved in corporate and retail banking and brokerage activities, and 
has 14 branches in Qatar.

The Bank changed its legal name from Ahlibank Q.S.C. to Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. to comply with the provisions of 
the new Qatar Commercial Companies Law issued on 7 July 2015.

(a)  Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), the applicable 
provisions of the Qatar Central Bank (“QCB”) regulations and Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law.

(b)  Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following 
material items on the consolidated statement of financial position, which are measured at fair value:
• investment securities designated at fair value through income statement;
• derivatives;
• investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’) (2018) / Held for trading financial 

investments (2017);
• other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’);
• financial investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’) (2018) / 

Available-for-sale financial investments (2017); and
• recognised financial assets and financial liabilities designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value 

hedge relationships.

(c)  Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals (“QAR”), which is the Group’s functional 
currency. Except as otherwise indicated, financial information presented in QAR has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand.

The principal subsidiaries of the Bank is as follows:

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(d)  Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS and applicable provisions of 
the QCB regulations requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements are described in note 5.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements, except for the effects of adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018, 
as described in note 3(y), and have been applied consistently by Group. Additionally, the Group has adopted 
consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to disclosures about 
2018, but have not been applied to the comparative information.

(a) Basis of Consolidation

(i) Subsidiary
Subsidiary is an investee controlled by the Group. The financial statement of subsidiary is included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The Group ‘controls’ an investee if it is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

The accounting policies of subsidiary have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that require settlement in a foreign 
currency are translated into the respective functional currencies of the operations at the spot exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the 
functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the 
functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and arising on 
translation at period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Recognition and initial measurement
The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers, due from / to banks, customer deposits, 
debt securities and other borrowings on the date at which they are originated. All other financial assets and 
liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

(ii) Classification
Financial assets – Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:
• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:
• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling financial assets; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(ii) Classification  (continued)
Financial assets – Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio 
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. 
The information considered includes:
• The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;
• How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and how those risks are managed; and
• The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations 

about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but 
as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is 
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis 
are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect 
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and 
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (“the SPPI test”), 
the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial 
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that 
it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers contingent events that would 
change the amount and timing of cash flows, prepayment and extension terms, terms that limit the Group’s 
claim to cash flows from specified assets and features that modify consideration of the time value of money. 
Instruments failing SPPI will be measured at FVTPL.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets.The reclassification takes place from the start of the 
first reporting period following the change.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial assets - applicable up to 31 December 2017
(ii) Classification  (continued)
At inception or on initial recognition a financial asset is classified in one of the following categories:
• loans and receivables (LaR);
• held to maturity (HTM);
• available-for-sale (AFS); and
• at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), either as: held for trading; or FVTPL on initial designation.

Financial assets held for trading
A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if it is:
• acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;
• on initial recognition, part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and 

for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or
• a derivative, except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets designated as at FVTPL
In addition to financial assets held for trading, financial assets are classified in the FVTPL category on initial 
recognition, to designate such instruments as a FVTPL using the fair value option in one of the following 
circumstances:
When doing so results in more relevant information because either:
• it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would result from 

measuring assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on different bases (an “accounting 
mismatch”); or

• a group of financial assets or liabilities (or both) is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis in accordance with the entity’s document risk management or investment strategy and 
information is provided by key management personnel on this basis.

Financial liabilities
The Group has classified and measured its financial liabilities at amortised cost.

(iii) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in 
profit or loss.
From 1 January 2018, any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities 
designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in the consolidated income statement on derecognition of such 
securities.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(iii) Derecognition (continued)
A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
or (b) when it has neither transferred or retained substantially all the risks and rewards and when it no 
longer has control over the financial asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised, but retains either all or substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and 
rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised. Transfers of assets with retention of all 
or substantially all risks and rewards include, for example, securities lending and repurchase transactions.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired.

(iv) Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial Assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified 
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash 
flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is 
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value, and recalculates a new effective interest 
rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition 
for impairment calculation purpose, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the 
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Group recalculates the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset based on the revised cash flows of the financial assets and 
recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the 
consolidated income statement. If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the 
borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as 
interest income.

Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017
If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower and the asset 
was not derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the premodification interest rate.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(iv) Modification of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial Liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and 
the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(v) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

(vi) Measurement principles
Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is 
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, 
minus any reduction for impairment loss. The calculation of effective interest rate includes all fees paid or 
received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most 
advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-
performance risk. When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in 
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vi) Measurement principles (continued)
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction 
price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at 
initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price 
in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data 
from observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the 
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference 
is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the 
valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures 
assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided 
in Note 5 (b) (i).

(vii) Impairment
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments 
that are not measured at FVTPL:
• Financial assets that are debt instruments; and
• Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which 
they are measured as 12-month ECL:
• debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
• other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on financial instruments that are possible 
with the 12 months after the reporting date.

Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
• Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls 

(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive);

• Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

• Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive; and

• Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the 
Group expects to recover.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a 
new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset 
should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:
• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash 

flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the 
existing asset.

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair 
value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its 
derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset 
that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original 
effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
• Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
• A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
• The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired 
when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset(s) that can be estimated 
reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include significant 
financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or 
advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or 
issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data 
relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the 
group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

The Group considers evidence of impairment loss for loans and advances to customers and held-to-maturity 
investment securities at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans and 
advances to customers and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. 

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017 (continued)
All individually significant loans and advances to customers and held-to-maturity investment securities found 
not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but 
not yet identified. Loans and advances to customers and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not 
individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and advances to 
customers and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and advances to customers.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar 
credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups 
of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual 
terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on 
the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Group and historical loss experience for assets with 
credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of 
current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the 
historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not 
currently exist.

For listed investments, a decline in the market value from cost by 20% or more, or a decline in the market 
value from cost for a continuous period of 9 months or more, are considered to be indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the cumulative 
loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss is the difference 
between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to 
time value are reflected as a component of interest income.

In subsequent periods, the appreciation of fair value of previously impaired available-for-sale equity investment 
securities is recorded in fair value reserve.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with central Bank and 
highly liquid financial assets with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-
term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



90 Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(e) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

Loans and advances to customers are initially measured at the transaction price which is the fair value plus 
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest method except for the financial assets which are classified to be measured at FVTPL, which are 
measured at fair value with changes recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

(f) Investment securities
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The ‘investment securities’ includes:
• Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus 

incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest 
method;

• Debt and equity investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL or designated as at FVTPL; these 
are at fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit or loss;

• Debt securities measured at FVOCI; and
• Equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI.

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, 
which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:
• Interest income using the effective interest method;
• Expected credit losses and reversals; and
• Foreign exchange gains and losses.

When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from equity to consolidated income statement.

The Group elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments 
that are not held for trading. The election is made on an instrument by instrument basis on initial recognition 
and is irrevocable. Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never subsequently reclassified to 
consolidated income statement, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) 
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such 
investments , continue to be recognised in consolidated income statement, unless they clearly represent a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and 
losses recognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017
Subsequent to initial recognition investment securities are accounted for depending on their classification as 
either ‘held to maturity’, ‘fair value through profit or loss’, or ‘available-for-sale’.
i. Held-to-maturity finance assets
ii. Fair value through profit or loss
iii. Available-for-sale financial investments

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



 91www.ahlibank.com.qa

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(g) Derivatives
(i) Derivatives held for risk management purposes and hedge accounting
In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve 
derivative financial instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties 
where payments are dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial instruments, 
reference rates or indices.

These include financial options, futures and forwards, interest rate swaps and currency swaps, which 
create rights and obligations that, have the effect of transferring between the parties of the instrument 
one or more of the financial risks inherent in an underlying primary financial instrument. On inception, a 
derivative financial instrument gives one party a contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially favourable, or a contractual obligation 
to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable. However, they generally do not result in a transfer of the underlying primary financial 
instrument on inception of the contract, nor does such a transfer necessarily take place on maturity of 
the contract. Some instruments embody both a right and an obligation to make an exchange. Because 
the terms of the exchange are determined on inception of the derivative instruments, as prices in financial 
markets change, those terms may become either favourable or unfavourable.

• Fair Value hedges
In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from 
re-measuring the hedging instrument to fair value is recognized immediately in the consolidated income 
statement. The related aspect of the hedged item is adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
hedged item and recognized in the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there was no fair value hedge.

• Cash flow hedges
In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized initially as 
cash flow hedge reserve in other comprehensive income. The gains or losses on cash flow hedges 
initially recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are transferred to the 
consolidated income statement in the period in which the hedged transaction impacts the consolidated 
income statement. Where the hedged transaction results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, 
the associated gains or losses that had initially been recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, are included in the initial measurement of the cost of the related asset or 
liability.

For hedges which do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising in the fair value of 
the hedging instrument are taken directly to the consolidated income statement for the period.
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(g) Derivatives
(i) Derivatives held for risk management purposes and hedge accounting (continued)
• Cash flow hedges (continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is terminated or exercised, or 
no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For effective fair value hedges of financial instruments with 
fixed maturities, any adjustment arising from hedge accounting is amortised over the remaining term 
to maturity. For effective cash flow hedges, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
recognized as cash flow hedge reserve in other comprehensive income is held therein until the 
forecasted transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net 
cumulative gain or loss recognized as cash flow hedge reserve in other comprehensive income is 
transferred to the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there was no cash flow hedge.

(ii) Derivatives held for trading purposes
The Group’s derivative trading instruments includes forward exchange contracts and interest rate and 
foreign currency swaps. After initial recognition at transaction prices, being the best evidence of fair value 
upon initial recognition, derivatives are subsequently measured at fair value. Fair value represents quoted 
market price or internal pricing models as appropriate. The resulting gains or losses are included in the 
consolidated income statement.

(h) Property and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part 
of that equipment. When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of property and equipment, and is recognised 
in other income/other expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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(h) Property and equipment (continued)
(iii) Depreciation
Depreciable amount is the cost of property and equipment, or other amount substituted for cost, less its 
residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
each part of an item of property and equipment since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset and is based on cost of the asset less 
its estimated residual value. Leased assets under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Buildings    20 years
Leasehold improvements   5 years
Furniture and equipment   3-7 years
Motor Vehicles   5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised.

(j) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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(k) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms 
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value, and the initial 
fair value is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The financial guarantee liability is subsequently 
carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment when a 
payment under the guarantee has become probable.

(l) Employee termination benefits and pension funds
End of service gratuity plans-Defined benefits plan
The Group provides for end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based 
upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. 
The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. The provision of employees’ 
end of service benefits is included in the other provisions within other liabilities.

Pension and provident fund plan-Defined contribution plan
Under Law No. 24 of 2002 on Retirement and Pension, the Group is required to make contributions to a 
Government fund scheme for Qatari employees calculated as a percentage of the Qatari employees’ salaries. 
The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

(j) Share capital and reserves
Incremental cost directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument is deducted from the initial 
measurement of the equity instruments.

(n) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders. Dividends for the year that are declared after the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
position are dealt with in a separate note.

(o) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount 
of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses.

From 1 January 2018, for the financial assets that have become credit-impaired (stage 3) subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net 
f the expected credit loss provision). If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest 
income reverts to the gross basis.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all transaction costs and fees paid or received that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.
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(o) Interest income and expense (continued)
Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income include:
• interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an effective 

interest basis;
• fair value changes in qualifying derivatives, including hedge ineffectiveness, and related hedged items in 

fair value hedges of interest rate risk.

Interest income on investment (debt) securities measured at FVOCI (2018) / available-for-sale financial 
investments (2017) and measured at amortised cost (2018) / held to maturity (2017) is calculated using 
effective interest rate method and is also included in interest income.

(p) Fees and commission income and expense
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales 
commission, placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised over time as the related services are 
performed. When a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, the related loan 
commitment fees are recognised over time on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. In case of 
these services, the control is considered to be transferred over time as the customer is benefited from these 
services over the tenure of the service period. Other fee and commission expense relate mainly to transaction 
the services are received.

(q) Income from investment securities
Gains or losses on the disposal of investment securities are recognised in profit or loss as the difference 
between fair value of the consideration received and carrying amount of the investment securities.

Unrealised gains or losses on fair value changes from remeasurement of investment securities classified as 
held for trading or designated as fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

From 1 January 2018, any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities 
designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in the consolidated income statement on derecognition of such 
securities but may be reclassified to another class of equity.

(r) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established.

(s) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(t) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
executive officer. The chief executive officer is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses 
the performance of the operating segments of an entity.
Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are included in determining operating segment 
performance.

(u) Fiduciary activities
Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

(v) Repossessed collateral
Repossessed collaterals against settlement of customers’ debts are stated within the consolidated statement 
of financial position under “Other assets” at their acquisition value net of allowance for impairment.

(w) Comparatives
Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or 
disclosed with comparative information.

(x) Parent Bank financial information
Statement of financial position and income statement of the Parent Bank, disclosed as supplementary 
information, is prepared following the same accounting policies as mentioned above except for; investment in 
subsidiaries which are not consolidated and is carried at cost.

(y) Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2018.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations, which became effective as of 1 January 2018, are 
relevant to the Group:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments    1-Jan-18
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  1-Jan-18
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration   1-Jan-18

The adoption of the above did not result in any changes to previously reported net profit or equity of the Group 
except as mentioned below.

(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Group has adopted IFRS 9, as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January 
2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 
also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures’.
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(y) Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). IFRS 
9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its 
contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale.

Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the 
standard are never bifurcated. Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is assessed for classification.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. 
However, although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value option 
were recognised in the consolidated income statement, under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally 
presented as follows:
• The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is 

presented in OCI; and
• The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. The new 
impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not to 
equity investments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets 
carried at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVOCI. Assets migrate through the following 
three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Stage 1: 12 months ECL - not credit impaired.
Stage 1 includes financial assets on initial recognition and that do not have a significant increase in credit 
risk since the initial recognition or that have low credit risk. For these assets, ECL are recognised on the 
gross carrying amount of the asset based on the expected credit losses that result from default events that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Interest is computed on the gross carrying amount 
of the asset.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired
Stage 2 includes financial assets that have had a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial 
recognition but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are 
recognised, but interest is still calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Lifetime ECL are the 
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial 
instrument.
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(y) Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL - credit impaired
Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For 
these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised.
For an explanation of how the Group classifies financial liabilities under IFRS 9. Refer to Note 3 (c) (ii).

Hedge accounting
The general hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 retain the three types of hedge accounting 
mechanisms in IAS 39. However, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible 
for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify as hedging instruments 
and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, 
the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. 
Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is no longer required.

The Group has also elected to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 on adoption 
of IFRS 9.

Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, 
except as described below.

(a) As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 , the Group elected not to restate comparative 
figures. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the 
information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable 
to the information presented for 2018 under IFRS 9.

(b) The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at 
the date of initial application.
• The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
• The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVOCI.
• If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Group has 

assumed that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



 99www.ahlibank.com.qa

(y) Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impact of adopting IFRS 9
The impact of adopting IFRS 9 has been shown as below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017)

Impact on reclassification and remeasurements:

Investment securities (equity) from available-for-sale to those measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investment securities (equity) from available-for-sale to those measured at fair value through profit or loss

Investment securities (mutual funds) from available-for-sale to those measured at fair value through profit or loss

Investment securities (debt) from available-for-sale to those measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investment securities (debt) from loans and advances to customers to those measured at amortized cost

Impact on recognition of Expected Credit Losses

Due from banks

Investment securities (debt) at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investment securities (debt) at amortised cost

Loans and advances to customers

Loan commitments and financial guarantees

Net impairment losses on due from banks, Central Bank and other financial assets

Transfer from risk reserve

Opening balance under IFRS 9 on date of initial application of 1 January 2018

Retained 
earnings

3,000

17,382

(758)

125

(41,169)

-

1,057,036

6,276

(191,644)

(217,778)

-

(1,500)

(235,160)

7,981

(89)

839,258

Fair value 
reserve

(3,000)

(16,407)

-

(125)

-

-

12,530

(6,276)

-

(16,407)

975

-

-

(7,981)

-

(3,877)

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
The Group performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets as well as 
analysing their cash flow characteristics. The below table reconciles the original measurement categories and 
carrying amounts of financial assets in accordance with IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under 
IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2017.

Financial Liabilities
There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and balances with central Bank

Due from banks

Due to banks and central Bank

Investment securities – equity

Derivatives with negative fair value

Investment securities – debt

Debt securities

Derivatives with positive fair value

ECL for financial guarantees and undrawn commitments

Investment securities – debt

Customer deposits

Other assets:

Acceptances

Investment securities – Loans & receivables

Other liabilities:

Loans and advances to customers

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Investment securities – funds

Accrued interest payable

Investment securities – debt

Subordinated debt

Others

Investment securities – debt

Other borrowings

Accrued interest receivable

Others

Investment securities – equity

Accounts payable

Financial liabilities

Re-
classification

Original 
carrying 
amount

Original
classification
 under IAS 39

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,202,199

3,982,103

69,383

11,458

856,638

3,624,368

4,578

-

34,589,556

1,964,087

23,568,578

287,817

20,865

39,624,792

28,915,434

418,534

1,233

152,358

-

-

205,388

3,190,528

2,192,233

196,587

275,808

18,000

76,299

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

Available-for-sale

FVTPL

Available-for-sale

Amortised cost

FVTPL

-

Available-for-sale

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Loans and advances

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

Available-for-sale

Amortised cost

Available-for-sale

Amortised cost

Loans and receivables

Held to Maturity

Amortised cost

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

Available-for-sale

Amortised cost

-1,979,872Loans and receivables

New carrying 
amount

Re-
measurement

New 
classification
under IFRS 9

2,202,110

3,982,103

69,383

11,458

855,138

3,624,368

4,578

41,169

34,630,725

1,964,087

23,568,578

287,817

20,079

39,430,801

28,724,576

418,534

1,233

152,358

-

-

205,388

3,189,770

2,192,233

196,587

275,808

18,000

76,299

(89)

-

-

-

(1,500)

-

-

41,169

41,169

-

-

-

(786)

(193,991)

(190,858)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(758)

-

-

-

-

-

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

FVTPL

FVTPL

FVOCI

Amortised cost

FVTPL

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

FVTPL

Amortised cost

FVTPL

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

FVOCI

Amortised cost

1,979,872-Amortised cost

QAR’000s
Impact of IFRS 9

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(y) Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (Continued)
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table shows the effects of the reclassification of financial assets from IAS 39 categories into 
the amortised cost category under IFRS 9.

(ii) IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers ’

The Group implemented this new revenue recognition standard with effect from 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 
provides a principles-based approach for revenue recognition, and introduces the concept of recognising 
revenue for performance obligations as they are satisfied. The Group has assessed the impact of IFRS 15 
and concluded that the standard has no material effect, on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of standards and amendments to standards are issued but not yet effective and the Group has 
not adopted these in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The below standards may 
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, however, the Group is currently 
evaluating the impact of these new standards. The Group will adopt these new standards on the respective 
effective dates.

IFRS 16 Leases

In January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, replacing the existing guidance on leases, including 
IAS 17  ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determine whether an arrangement contains a lease’, SIC 15 ’Operating leases’ and 
SIC 27 ‘Evaluating the substance of transactions in the legal form of a lease’. It will result in almost all leases 
being recognized on the balance sheet by lessee, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is 
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay 
rentals are recognized. The only recognition exemptions are short-term and low-value leases. Right-of-use 
assets for QAR 21.55 million will be measured on transition as if the new rules had always been applied. All 
other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any 
prepaid or accrued lease expenses).The Group has set up a project team which has reviewed all of the Group’s 
leasing arrangements over the last year in light of the new lease accounting rules in IFRS 16. 

As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of QAR 24.72 million. 
Of these commitments, approximately QAR 3.17 million relate to short-term leases and low value leases which 
will both be recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the income statement.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

FROM AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS UNDER IAS 39:

Fair value at 31 December 2017

Fair value loss that would have been recognised during 2018 in OCI if the financial assets had not been reclassified (806)

261

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



102 Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. Annual Report 2018

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

For the remaining lease commitments the Group, considering the preliminary assessment, expects to 
recognise right-of-use assets of approximately QAR 17.40 million on 1 January 2019, lease liabilities of 
QAR 18.78 million (after adjustments for prepayments and accrued lease payments recognised as at 
31 December 2018). 

The Bank, considering the preliminary assessment, expects that net profit after tax will decrease by 
approximately QAR 0.02 million for 2019 as a result of adopting the new rules. Net interest income is expected 
to decrease by approximately QAR 5.05 million, as the interest on the lease liability will be part of interest 
expense, Other expenses will decrease by QAR 6.02 million as operating lease payments were included in 
other expenses, however depreciation will increase by QAR 0.98 million due to amortization of the right-of-use 
assets.

Operating cash flows will increase and financing cash flows decrease by approximately QAR 5.04 million 
as repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flows from financing 
activities.

The Group’s activities as a lessor are not material and hence the Bank does not expect any significant impact 
on the financial statements. However, some additional disclosures will be required from next year.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory effective date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to 
apply the modified restrospective approach and will not restate comparative information for the period prior to 
date of adoption.
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(y)     Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (Continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of standards and amendments to standards are issued but not yet effective and the Group has not 
adopted these in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The below standards may have a 
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, however, the Group is currently evaluating 
the impact of these new standards. The Group will adopt these new standards on the respective effective 
dates.

Management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new 
standards, interpretations and amendments, except for IFRS 16 as highlighted in next paragraphs, may have 
no material impact on the financial statements of the Company in the period of initial application.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

NEW AND REVISED IFRSS

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards - amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, 

Income Taxes and IAS 23 Borrowing costs.

to references to and quotes from the framework or to indicate where they refer to a different version of the Conceptual Framework

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 relating to definition of material

Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits relating to amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) relating to 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle amending IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 12 

IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32 to update those pronouncements with regard 

Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations relating to definition of a business

Amendments in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments relating to prepayment features with negative compensation. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to long-term interests in associates and joint ventures.

the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor to its associate or joint venture.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2019

1 January 2020

1 January 2019

1 January 2020

1 January 2019

Effective date 
deferred indefinitely. 

Adoption is still 
permitted.

1 January 2019

1 January 2020

1 January 2019

1 January 2021

1 January 2019

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(a) Introduction and Overview

The Group’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them professionally. The 
core functions of the Group’s risk management are to identify all key risks for the Group, measure these risks, 
manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The Group regularly reviews its risk management 
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and best market practice.

The Group’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits 
foregone, which may be caused by internal or external factors.

Risk Management
Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is 
critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk 
exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Group is exposed to credit, liquidity, market, including 
trading and non-trading, and operational risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, 
technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process.

• Risk Management Structure
The Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks; however, there are 
separate independent bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks.

• Executive Committee
The Executive Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk strategy and 
implementing principles, frameworks, policies and limits. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues 
and managing and monitoring relevant risk decisions.

• Risk Management Department
The Risk Management Department is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures 
to ensure an independent control process. It is also responsible for monitoring compliance with risk 
principles, policies and limits, across the Group. Each business group has a decentralised department 
which is responsible for the independent control of risks, including monitoring the risk of exposures against 
limits and the assessment of risks of new products and structured transactions. This function also ensures 
the complete capture of the risks in risk measurement and reporting systems.

• Treasury
Treasury is responsible for managing the Group’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure, as 
laid down by the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) from time to time.

4. Financial Risk Management

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(a) Introduction and Overview (continued)
Risk Management  (continued)

• Internal Audit
Risk management processes throughout the Group are audited annually by the Internal Audit function 
that examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the procedures. 
Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and reports its findings and 
recommendations to the Audit Committee.

Risk measurement and reporting systems
The Group’s risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal 
circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical 
models. The models make use of probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the 
economic environment. The Group also runs worst case scenarios that would arise in the event that extreme 
events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Group. These limits 
reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Group as well as the level of risk that the Group 
is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition, the Group monitors and 
measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk types and 
activities.

Information compiled from all the business departments is examined and processed in order to analyse, 
control and identify early risks. This information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Committee.

The report includes aggregate credit exposure, credit metric forecasts, hold limit exceptions, VaR, liquidity 
ratios and risk profile changes. On a monthly basis, detailed reporting of industry, customer and geographic 
risks takes place. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the allowance for impairment on a 
quarterly basis.

For all levels throughout the Group, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to 
ensure that all business departments have access to necessary and up-to-date information.

Frequent briefing is given to the senior management and all other relevant members of the Group on 
the utilization of market limits, analysis of VaR, proprietary investments and liquidity, plus any other risk 
developments.

4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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(a) Introduction and Overview (continued)
Risk Management  (continued)

Risk mitigation
As part of its overall risk management strategy, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage 
exposures resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures 
arising from forecast transactions.

The risk profile is assessed before entering into any hedging transactions, which are authorised by the 
appropriate approval authority mechanism within the Group. The effectiveness of hedges is assessed by 
the Treasury and senior management (based on economic considerations too rather than purely the IFRS 
hedge based accounting regulations). The effectiveness of all the hedge relationships is monitored by risk 
department quarterly at each reporting period. In cases of ineffectiveness, the Group will continuously monitor 
the expected performance of the hedge and take mitigating action such as re-hedging wherever necessary to 
make the hedge more effective on the underlying instrument concerned.

The Group actively uses collaterals to reduce its credit risks (see Note 4(b) Credit risk below for more detail).

Excessive risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a 
particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific 
guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio, with limits set on geographic and industry sector 
exposures. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge a financial obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. In the case of derivatives this is limited to positive fair values. 
The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific 
counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments, 
affecting a particular industry or geographic location.

4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of lending activities to avoid undue 
concentrations of risks with individuals or group of customers in specific locations or businesses. It also 
obtains collaterals, when appropriate. The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment 
of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of 
collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
• For securities lending and reverse repurchase transactions, cash or securities,
• For commercial lending, mortgages over real estate properties, inventory, trade receivables, cash and 

securities.
• For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties, cash or securities.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the 
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy 
of the provision for credit losses.

The Group also obtains corporate guarantees from parent companies for loans, advances and financing 
activities to their subsidiaries.

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group, without taking 
account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For assets recorded on the consolidated 
statement of financial position, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit risk exposures relating to assets recorded on the 
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Balances with central Bank

Due from banks

Other credit risk exposures are as follows:

Loans and advances to customers

Contingent liabilities

Investment securities - debt

Unutilized facilities

Other assets

Total as at 31 December

Total as at 31 December

Total credit risk exposure

2018

5,727,893

11,048,219

4,099,682

39,682,449

59,775,014

2,234,884

319,080

20,092,565

27,300,910

9,044,346

2017

6,011,252

9,408,427

2,202,199

39,234,174

57,659,009

1,847,200

237,224

18,424,835

28,936,299

9,016,408

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Geographical sectors
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at their carrying amounts (without taking into 
account any collateral held or other credit support), as categorized by geographical region.

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

Balances with central Bank

Balances with central Bank

Due from banks

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers

Guarantees and letters of credit

Guarantees and letters of credit

Other assets

Other assets

Total

Total

Investment securities – debt

Investment securities – debt

Unutilized facilities

Unutilized facilities

Total

Total

Other credit risk exposure are as follows:

Other credit risk exposure are as follows:

Rest 
of the world

Rest 
of the world

Other GCC

Other GCC

219,514

5,744

8,082

7,306

-

-

-

-

171

-

5,214

11,962

-

-

5,214

11,962

135,439

55,767

-

-

355,124

61,511

67,120

26,080

867

7,298

1,344

-

867

7,298

402,931

405,254

-

-

479,477

438,640

Total

Total

Europe

Europe

Qatar

Qatar

4,099,682

2,202,199

52,475

39,149

3,819,611

2,150,000

2,234,884

1,847,200

-

-

2,234,884

1,847,200

27,300,910

28,936,299

9,044,346

9,016,408

319,080

237,224

20,092,565

18,424,835

5,727,893

6,011,252

11,048,219

9,408,427

39,682,449

39,234,174

-

-

18,453

30,066

1,087

-

18,453

30,066

-

-

-

-

53,562

39,149

27,233,619

28,910,219

9,019,812

8,967,082

316,649

237,224

20,068,031

18,375,509

5,189,523

5,550,231

11,048,219

9,408,427

38,794,286

38,694,874

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts before taking into 
account collateral held or other credit enhancements, as categorized by the industry sectors of the Group’s 
counterparties.

Total maximum exposure net of tangible collateral is QAR 30.0 billion (2017: QAR 29.96 billion). The types of 
collateral obtained include cash, mortgages over real estate properties and pledges of shares.

Collateral

The Group obtains collateral and other credit enhancements in ordinary course of business from 
counterparties. On an overall basis, during the year there was no discerable deterioriation in the quality of 
collateral held by the Group. In addition, there were no changes in collateral policies of the Group.

The fair value of the collateral held against credit-impaired loans and advances as at 31 December 2018 is 
QAR 25,045 thousands (2017: QAR 21,526 thousands).

Funded

Total funded

Industry

Government institutions & semi government agencies

Contracting

Total unfunded

Government

Commercial

Services

Real estate

Total

Government agencies

Unfunded

Services

Commercial and others

Personal

Net
maximum 
exposure 

2018

Gross
maximum 
exposure 

2018

39,682,449

596,654

3,200,722

1,729,723

20,075,471

7,918,615

12,177,481

1,406,423

5,215,569

59,757,920

419,572

8,877,206

15,468,326

2,747,629

40,317,914

618,148

3,200,779

1,846,950

20,092,565

7,923,242

12,358,218

1,408,665

5,310,735

60,410,479

419,760

8,924,167

15,483,121

2,916,694

Net
maximum 
exposure 

2017

Gross
maximum 
exposure 

2017

39,234,174

705,594

1,605,018

2,021,881

18,424,835

9,298,750

12,225,430

1,331,635

5,010,090

57,659,009

327,038

6,681,838

15,488,182

2,963,553

39,650,442

708,923

1,605,018

2,021,881

18,424,835

9,298,750

12,286,432

1,331,635

5,010,090

58,075,277

327,038

6,751,221

15,488,182

3,246,107

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iii) Credit quality

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal and external credit risk 
ratings. The Group follows an internal obligor risk rating (ORR) mechanism for grading relationships 
across its credit portfolio. The Group utilises a ten-scale credit rating system of which rating 1-7 relate to 
performing and 8-10 relate to non-performing. Within performing, ORR 1 to 4 represents investment grade, 
ORR 5 to 6 represents sub-investment grade and ORR 7 represent watchlist. ORR 8 to 10 represents sub-
standard, doubtful and loss respectively. All credits are assigned a rating in accordance with the defined 
criteria. The Group endeavors continuously to improve upon the internal credit risk rating methodologies 
and credit risk management policies and practices to reflect the true underlying credit risk of the portfolio 
and the credit culture in the Group. All lending relationships are reviewed at least once in a year and more 
frequently in the case of non-performing assets.

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets, commitments and 
financial guarantees.

BALANCES WITH 
CENTRAL BANK AND DUE FROM BANKS

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Investment grade - ORR 1 to 4

Investment grade - ORR 1 to 4

Sub-investment grade - ORR 5 to 7

Sub-investment grade - ORR 5 to 7

Substandard - ORR 8

Substandard - ORR 8

Doubtful ORR 9

Doubtful ORR 9

Loss - ORR 10

Loss - ORR 10

Loss allowance

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Carrying amount

Total

Total

Stage 2

Stage 2

36,658

12,851,710

-

273,248

-

66,785

-

130,644

6,334,956

27,929,135

(390)

(628,225)

6,334,566

27,300,910

36,658

1,657,489

-

-

-

-

-

-

36,658

1,733,542

(117)

(166,254)

36,541

1,567,288

6,298,298

14,606,748

-

76,053

Total

Total

Stage 3

Stage 3

Stage 1

Stage 1

285,308

13,943,584

-

14,119

-

18,292

-

238,118

4,049,399

29,352,367

-

(416,268)

4,049,399

28,936,299

-

-

-

273,248

-

66,785

-

130,644

-

470,677

-

(328,642)

-

142,035

-

11,194,221

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,298,298

25,724,916

(273)

(133,329)

6,298,025

25,591,587

3,764,091

15,138,254

-

-

6,298,298

14,530,695

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

2017

2017

2018

2018

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iii) Credit quality (continued)

INVESTMENT SECURITIES - DEBT

LOAN COMMITMENTS 
AND FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

Investment grade - ORR 1 to 4

Investment grade - ORR 1 to 4

Sub-investment grade - ORR 5 to 7

Sub-investment grade - ORR 5 to 7

Substandard - ORR 8

Substandard - ORR 8

Doubtful ORR 9

Doubtful ORR 9

Loss - ORR 10

Loss - ORR 10

Total

Loss allowance

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Carrying amount

Total

Total

Stage 2

Stage 2

141,362

2,482,054

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,734,743

4,212,699

(6,850)

(17,094)

5,727,893

4,195,605

16,699

242,952

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,699

246,174

(1,342)

(2,792)

15,357

243,382

5,593,381

1,730,645

-

3,222

Total

Total

Stage 3

Stage 3

Stage 1

Stage 1

56,093

2,109,857

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,019,234

3,430,407

(7,982)

-

6,011,252

3,430,407

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

124,663

2,239,102

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,718,044

3,966,525

(5,508)

(14,302)

5,712,536

3,952,223

5,963,141

1,320,550

-

-

5,593,381

1,727,423

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

2017

2017

2018

2018

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, none of the financial assets in other were either past due or impaired and did 
not have any expected credit loss allowance recognised against them.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a loan or an investment debt security balance, and any related allowances for 
impairment losses, when Group Credit determines that the loan or security is uncollectible and after QCB’s 
approval.

This determination is made after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in 
the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, 
or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. For smaller balance 
standardised loans, write-off decisions generally are based on a product-specific past due status. The 
amount written off during the year was QAR 145,661 thousands (2017: NIL).

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and 
analysis including internal credit risk grading system, external risk ratings, where available, delinquency 
status of accounts, credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience. The Group may 
also determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on particular 
qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully 
reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.

In determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition following criteria’s are 
considered:
1. Two notches downgrade for ratings from Aaa to Baa or one notch downgrade for ratings from Ba to Caa
2. Facilities restructured during previous twelve months
3. Facilities overdue by 45 days as applicable as at reporting date

Credit risk grades
Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. 
These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. Exposures are 
subject to on-going monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk 
grade.

Generating the term structure of Probability of Default (PD)
The Group employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of PD of 
exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. This analysis includes 
the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and changes in key 
macro-economic factors, across various geographies in which the Group has exposures.

Renegotiated financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market 
conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of 
the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated 
loan recognised as a new loan at fair value. Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral, if available. This may involve extending the payment arrangements 
and documenting the agreement of new loan conditions. Management continuously reviews renegotiated 
loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group 

to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or
• the borrower is internally rated 8, 9 or 10.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group also considers indicators that are:
• quantitative – e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the 

Group; and
• based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary 
over time to reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by 
the Group for regulatory capital purposes.

Incorporating forward looking information increases the level of judgement as to how changes in these 
macroeconomic factors will affect the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) applicable to the stage 1 and stage 2 
exposures which are considered as performing. The methodologies and assumptions involved, including 
any forecasts of future economic conditions, are reviewed periodically.

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
• probability of default (PD);
• loss given default (LGD);
• exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical 
data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical rating models. 
These statistical models are primarily based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and 
qualitative factors and are supplemented by external credit assessment data where available.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based 
on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. Also the regulatory required 
minimum haircuts are applied on the eligible collaterals to arrive at the LGD.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Forward looking information incorporated in ECL models
Incorporating forward looking information increases the level of judgement as to how changes in these 
macroeconomic factors will affect the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) applicable to the stage 1 and stage 2 
exposures which are considered as performing. The methodologies and assumptions involved, including 
any forecasts of future economic conditions, are reviewed periodically as per the IFRS 9 Policy of the 
Group.

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. The 
Bank has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and 
expected credit losses for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial 
instrument. Expert judgment has also been applied in this process.

The group has calculated the PD based on the process described below:

1. Obtain the observed defaults rates (ODRs)
ODRs are computed for wholesale portfolio and each of the retail segment for which ECL is separately 
computed.

2. Obtain the value of the expected relevant economic variables
The various expected relevant economic indicators such as Nominal GDP, Oil & Gas product, good 
and service exports are sourced from IMF, World Economic Organization or any other data source as 
considered appropriate.

3. Transform the macroeconomic data from yearly to monthly data point
Historical and forecasted values of macroeconomic indicators considered for regression analysis purposes 
are generally provided at a yearly level. However, ODRs are computed at a monthly frequency. Accordingly, 
the group interpolates the macroeconomics data. The Group has adopted the cubic spline interpolation 
technique for interpolation of economic variable data.

4. Perform regression analysis
Perform the ordinary least square (OLS) regression analysis of ODR for the each of the portfolio on the 
historical observed value of the economic indicators.

5. Test the statistical significance of the model
Significance of the overall model as well as each of individual parameters are assessed based on various 
statistical tests such as adjusted R2, F test and t test.

6. Forecast the Point in Time (PiT) default rate
Based on the projected value of the economic variables under different scenario and their coefficient value 
as determined based on the related regression analysis, point in time (PiT) average default rate is estimated 
for each of ECL computation segment for each of the projected years.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)
Forward looking information incorporated in ECL models (continued)

Based on the detailed analysis, the significant economic variables identified for ECL computation purpose 
is as under:

Approach for scenario analysis

QCB advises banks to arrive at the final ECL as the scenario weighted ECL under different macroeconomic 
scenarios. Considering the same, the group has formulated the methodology for creation of macro-
economic scenarios under the premise of economic baseline, upturn and downturn condition. Following 
are the key inputs for arriving at the different macroeconomic scenarios:

• The Baseline scenario is built on the baseline systemic factor data given by IMF/WEO or any other 
reliable data source. The baseline is a 50% scenario, implying, there is a 50% probability that 
the actual outcome is worse than the baseline forecast and an equal probability of 50% that the 
outcome is better than the baseline. It can be considered as the median of the latent distribution 
of the systemic factors.

• The Upturn scenario has a 15% probability attached to it (i.e. 15% probability that the outcome is 
better; or 85% probability that the outcome is worse).

• Similarly, the Downturn scenario has a 15% probability attached to it (15% probability that the 
outcome is worse; 85% probability that the outcome is better).

• These upside and downside scenarios are constructed as the 15% lower and upper tail scenarios, 
taking into account the IFRS 9 guidance which recommends that banks “should not estimate a worst-
case scenario nor the best-case scenario”, i.e. avoiding extreme scenarios. However, there would be 
other scenarios that will exist within the economy of the region. In order to take these scenarios into 
consideration, the probability of the upturn (15%), base (50%) and down (15%) scenarios has to be 
normalized such that they account for the 100% probability of a normal distributed curve.

S. NO

1

2

4

6

8

3

5

7

9

Identified relevant economic variablesECL segment

• Export

• Export

• Export

• 3 Month growth rate natural gas production

• Export

• Export

• Export

• Natural gas hydrocarbon

Mortgage Loan

Personal Loan (Qatari) - Stage 1

Auto Loan

Credit Card – Stage 1

Personal Loan (Non Qatari) - Stage 1

Personal Loan - Stage 2

Retail OD- Stage 1

Credit Card – Stage 2

• Nominal GDP
• Natural Gas productionWholesale portfolio

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)
Forward looking information incorporated in ECL models (continued)
Approach for scenario analysis (continued)

Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis

For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed 
on the basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous.

Based on the observed default rates, historical performance and other internal statisitical studies the group 
calculates the ECL at a pool level for the below categories.

1. Mortgage Loan
2. Personal loan to residents
3. Personal loan to expats
4. Personal Loan - Resident & expats
5. Auto loans
6. Retail overdrafts

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Loss allowance

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by 
class of financial instruments.

Comparative amounts represent allowance for credit losses and reflect measurement basis under IAS 39.

Exposure subject to ECL

• Loans and advances to customers

• Net impairment losses on due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

• Due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

Net transfer between stages

• Loans and advances to customers (including interest in suspense for Stage 3)

• Loans and advances to customers

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

• Net impairment losses on due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

• Investment securities (Debt)

• Loans and advances to customers

• Net impairment losses on investment securities (Debt)

• Net impairment losses on investment securities (Debt)

• Net impairment losses on due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

Charge for the period (net)

Opening balance (Day 1 impact) - as at 1 January 2018

• Net impairment losses on investment securities (Debt)

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

Stage 2

1,733,542

1

36,658

43,500

63,774

(1,166)

-

16,699

68,894

58,980

-

1,161

116

43,500

246,174

181

-

3,958

58,111

TotalStage 3Stage 1

27,929,135

89

6,334,956

146,792

607,912

(24,075)

-

5,734,743

651,428

19,182

-

2,258

301

146,792

4,212,699

4,592

-

41,169

-

470,677

-

-

100,792

296,896

-

-

-

296,896

76,615

-

-

-

100,792

-

-

-

-

76,615

25,725,916

88

6,298,298

2,500

247,242

(22,909)

-

5,718,044

285,638

(116,413)

-

1,097

185

2,500

3,966,565

4,411

-

37,211

(134,726)

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(v) Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)
Loss allowance (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of 
e.g. customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash 
outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for derivatives etc. Such outflows would deplete available 
cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity 
could result in reductions in the consolidated statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially 
an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Group will be unable to do so is inherent in all 
banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events including, 
but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.

(i) Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its funding requirements. Liquidity risk can 
be caused by market disruptions or a credit downgrade which may cause certain sources of funding to 
dry up immediately. To guard against this risk, the management has diversified funding sources and assets 
are managed with liquidity in mind, maintaining a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents and readily 
marketable securities.

In addition, the Group maintains 4.5% of average customer deposits as a mandatory deposit with Qatar 
Central Bank.

The Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) monitors the maturity profile on an overall basis with 
ongoing liquidity monitoring by the Treasury. 

The liquidity coverage ratio as of 31 December 2018 is 156.4% (2017:383.9%).

• Loans and advances to customers

• Loans and advances to customers

• Net impairment losses on due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

• Net impairment losses on due from banks, central Bank and other financial assets

• Net impairment losses on investment securities (Debt)

• Net impairment losses on investment securities (Debt)

Written off

Written off

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

• Loan commitments and financial guarantees

Stage 2

-

166,254

-

117

-

1,342

-

170,505

-

2,792

TotalStage 3Stage 1

(145,661)

628,225

-

390

-

6,850

(145,661)

652,559

-

17,094

(145,661)

328,642

-

-

-

-

(145,661)

328,642

-

-

-

133,329

-

273

-

5,508

-

153,412

-

14,302

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

(ii) Maturity analysis (including all assets and liabilities)

31 DECEMBER 2018

31 DECEMBER 2017

Cash and balances with central Bank

Cash and balances with central Bank

Due from banks

Due from banks

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Others assets

Others assets

Other liabilities

Other liabilities

Investment securities

Investment securities

Debt securities

Debt securities

Total

Total

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers

Customer deposits

Customer deposits

Total

Total

Total equity

Total equity

Property and equipment

Property and equipment

Other borrowings

Other borrowings

Due to banks and central Bank

Due to banks and central Bank

Difference

Difference

3 months – 
1 year

3 months – 
1 year

Less than 
1 month

Less than 
1 month

1-3 
months

1-3 
months

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

674,348

315,759

1,280,745

1,422,892

-

-

332,680

177,474

14,255

4,717

251,972

163,904

617,131

1,469,208

-

-

8,041,032

10,200,544

5,003,547

6,240,175

6,515,854

8,442,673

6,309,281

8,029,859

-

-

-

-

859,516

273,000

81,010

1,143,493

(1,731,751)

(2,170,685)

4,099,682

2,202,199

18,068

43,672

12,518

31,506

141,565

140,286

-

-

-

-

15,964,709

11,617,907

1,344,485

2,023,818

10,726,699

8,722,739

6,737,430

5,680,415

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,078,377

2,711,210

(9,227,279)

(5,937,492)

432,277

235,188

2,405,483

1,979,872

-

-

144,522

197,388

327,039

237,649

486,495

370,299

99,999

212,675

-

-

5,377,916

6,937,443

3,713,156

2,472,226

4,176,854

6,242,356

4,572,471

3,157,738

-

-

-

-

570,045

127,400

(805,445)

(3,779,705)

4,099,682

2,202,199

495,270

418,534

486,493

406,553

957,019

803,740

5,862,489

6,099,869

3,628,605

3,624,368

40,402,892

39,883,400

27,300,910

28,936,299

21,594,419

23,568,578

40,402,892

39,883,400

5,500,631

5,293,844

247,835 

258,608

2,497,516

2,192,233

5,729,432

3,982,103

-

-

More than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

1-5 
years

1-5 
years

-

-

-

-

-

-

132,681

132,681

40,400

45,525

2,797,375

2,093,860

-

-

5,541,031

5,339,369

7,935,021

7,695,053

-

-

11,112,912

10,180,202

5,500,631

5,293,844

247,835

258,608

-

-

-

-

5,571,881

4,840,833

18,113

6,033

-

-

-

-

-

-

36,587

83,726

2,347,984

2,324,126

3,628,605

3,624,368

5,478,204

5,788,137

9,304,701

10,505,027

175,012

160,810

11,670,798

12,835,186

-

-

-

-

1,638,000

1,919,233

-

-

6,192,594

7,047,049

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

(iii) Maturity analysis (financial liabilities and derivatives)

31 DECEMBER 2018

31 DECEMBER 2018

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Debt securities

Debt securities

Due to banks and central Bank

Due to banks and central Bank

Customer deposits

Customer deposits

Other borrowings

Other borrowings

Total

Total

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

Risk Management:

Risk Management:

Inflow

Inflow

Outflow

Outflow

3 months – 
1 year

3 months – 
1 year

Less than 
1 month

Less than 
1 month

1-3 
months

1-3 
months

Gross
undiscounted 

cash flows

Gross
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

332,847

180,542

97,256

97,257

18,504

44,348

11,167

11,166

82,112

1,145,996

6,816,886

8,564,125

923,896

316,272

8,252,997

10,304,192

(99,068)

(385,495)

98,063

387,946

8,251,992

10,306,643

5,092,187

2,719,012

10,959,137

8,742,631

8,266

5,041

16,089,261

11,522,198

(929,548)

(669,848)

927,479

672,452

16,087,192

11,524,802

144,901

198,388

21,252

21,252

496,252

423,278

3,988,933

4,116,172

495,270

418,534

3,628,605

3,624,368

572,231

132,854

4,271,960

6,278,324

15,731

9,595

5,026,075

6,640,413

(338,666)

(116,816)

340,566

118,635

5,027,975

6,642,232

5,746,530

3,997,862

22,128,338

23,765,386

2,627,851

2,308,793

34,987,904

34,611,491

(1,504,047)

(1,201,711)

1,502,197

1,211,700

34,986,054

34,621,480

5,729,432

3,982,103

21,594,419

23,568,578

2,497,516

2,192,233

33,945,242

33,785,816

More than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

1-5 
years

1-5 
years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,859,258

3,986,497

-

-

80,355

180,306

1,679,958

1,977,885

5,619,571

6,144,688

(136,765)

(29,552)

136,089

32,667

5,618,895

6,147,803

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

(d) Market risks

Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to meet business objectives, will 
be adversely affected by changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates 
commodities prices, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)

(i) Management of market risks

The Group manages its market risks within the regulatory framework of limits defined by the Qatar Central 
Bank. Setting the internal framework for the management of market risks and ensuring compliance with 
this methodology is the responsibility of the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) which consists of senior 
management including members of the Risk management function. The Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk created as a result of assets and liabilities mismatch or off balance sheet instruments that mature or 
reprice over a given period.

Both interest rate gaps and foreign exchange rate fluctuations are managed within the prescribed board 
limits. All risk exposures are monitored and reported on a daily basis to senior management and any 
breaches are escalated immediately. In addition all trading activity is continuously being monitored at 
ALCO level.

(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the 
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. 
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved 
limits for repricing bands. ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by 
Group central Treasury in its day-to-day monitoring activities.

A summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as follows:

2018

Cash and balances with central Bank

Loans and advances to customers

Property and equipment

Due to banks and central Bank

Customer deposits

Other borrowings

Total equity

Due from banks

Investment securities

Other assets

Certificate of deposits and commercial paper

Debt securities

Other liabilities

More than 
5 years

Repricing in:

3-12
months

1-5 
years

Less than 3 
months

Carrying 
amount

-

477,487

-

3,140,265

-

-

-

-

-

17,393,331

-

18,002,964

-

5,251,178

-

-

-

2,662,778

-

-

-

-

-

-

609,633

-

332,680

-

-

5,583,858

-

117,548

-

2,473,030

-

175,012

-

-

978,000

8,985,209

-

14,137,488

5,708,640

13,836,964

2,497,516

-

2,405,483

27,300,910

247,835

40,402,892

5,729,432

21,594,419

2,497,516

5,500,631

-

2,355,482

-

-

3,628,605

-

3,803,617

4,074,279

99,999

-

162,590

-

-

22,205,710

4,099,682

5,862,489

486,493

495,270

3,628,605

957,019

40,402,892

Effective 
interest rate

Non-interest 
sensitive

5.14%

2.57%

2.69%

3.66%

2.44%

3.87%

2.59%

3.68%

1,427,483

327,335

247,835

2,649,145

20,792

2,331,265

-

5,500,631

25,403

134,596

486,493

-

-

957,019

8,809,707

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)

(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (continued)

2018 (CONTINUED)

2017

Statement of financial position items

Cash and balances with central Bank

Property and equipment

Due to banks and central Bank

Other borrowings

Cumulative Interest rate sensitivity gap

Loans and advances to customers

Customer deposits

Total equity

Off statement of financial position items

Interest rate sensitivity gap

Off statement of financial position items

Due from banks

Other assets

Certificate of deposits and commercial paper

Other liabilities

Statement of financial position items

Investment securities

Debt securities

Interest rate sensitivity gap

Cumulative Interest rate sensitivity gap

More than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

Repricing in:

Repricing in:

3-12
months

3-12
months

1-5 
years

1-5 
years

Less than 3 
months

Less than 3 
months

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

3,140,265

-

-

-

-

6,263,690

167,966

2,173,209

-

-

-

3,140,265

12,419,106

-

-

1,143,493

-

4,204,496

19,432,538

20,901,746

7,124,777

-

-

12,532,786

-

-

-

-

-

(6,263,090)

2,005,243

-

-

2,173,209

6,160,562

113,680

-

-

177,474

-

(1,032,975)

1,469,208

-

8,445,744

12,456,002

3,622,884

(1,330,587)

-

-

-

-

4,090,481

428,077

2,752,203

160,810

-

918,960

(602,587)

(8,068,222)

884,000

-

2,824,225

2,192,233

(8,251,506)

8,606,666

11,889,986

13,965,014

-

(918,960)

(8,909,902)

1,979,872

258,608

3,982,103

2,192,233

28,936,299

39,883,400

23,568,578

5,293,844

728,000

-

-

-

-

2,173,209

2,324,126

3,624,368

3,785,178

(114,015)

3,020,297

(841,680)

2,186,644

-

241,060

-

12,456,002

212,676

-

19,222,532

(8,251,506)

(8,909,902)

2,202,199

406,553

418,534

803,740

(7,332,546)

6,099,869

3,624,368

39,883,400

Effective 
interest rate

Effective 
interest rate

Non-interest 
sensitive

Non-interest 
sensitive

1.83%

3.10%

4.86%

2.26%

1.38%

1.70%

3.82%

3.68%

(6,160,562)

1,095,872

258,608

14,385

-

-

301,052

2,166,256

2,317,977

5,293,844

-

(6,160,562)

-

15,555

406,553

-

803,740

88,616

-

8,429,946

(6,263,690)

-

QAR’000s

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)

(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated income statement and equity.

The sensitivity of the consolidated income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest 
rates on the net interest income for one year, based on the interest sensitive non-trading financial assets 
and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2018, including the effect of hedging instruments. The 
sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate for fair value through other comprehensive income 
(2017:available-for-sale) financial assets, including the effect of swaps designated as cash flow hedges at 
31 December 2018 for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates and based on the assumption 
that there are parallel shifts in the yield curve. The effect of decreases in interest rates is expected to have 
an equal and opposite effect of the increases shown.

(iii) Exposure to currency risk – non-trading portfolios

Foreign currency transactions
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Group takes an exposure to the effect of fluctuation in prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its consolidated financial position. The Board of Directors has set limits on the level of 
currency exposure, which are monitored daily.

The Group had the following net open positions at the year end:

Functional currency of Group entities

CURRENCY

Qatari Riyal

US Dollar

20182018

Sensitivity of net interest income Sensitivity of equity
Change 

in basis points

1,5007,487

-21,829

20172017

2,2388,98025

-27,65625

NET FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE:

Pounds Sterling

Euro

USD

Other currencies

Total

2018

73,912

15,744

1,568

(3,114,928)

(3,206,152)

2017

33,682

6,905

(115)

(5,081,258)

(5,121,730)

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)

(iii) Exposure to currency risk – non-trading portfolios (continued)
Functional currency of Group entities (continued)

The others above include an exposure to Egyptian Pounds (EGP) amounting to QAR 66,216 thousand 
(2017: QAR 26,494 thousand). This exposure arises from the investment made in 2006.

The Group manages its currency exposures within limits laid down by the Board of Directors. Intra-day 
and overnight limits are laid down for each currency individually and in total. The Qatar Riyal is pegged to 
the US Dollar. Although the Group is not exposed to any currency risk due to the peg, limits are set for US 
Dollar exposures. All other currency exposures are limited and the Group is not significantly exposed to the 
other currencies.

Sensitivity Analysis

(iv) Exposure to equity price risks – non-trading portfolios

Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from fluctuations in equity indices and prices. The Board has set limits on the 
amount and type of investments that may be accepted. This is monitored on an ongoing basis by the 
Group’s ALCO.The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment portfolio.

The effect on equity, as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as fair value through 
profit & Loss at the year end, due to change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as 
follows:

MARKET INDEX

Qatar Exchange

Effect on equity 2018Change in Equity price %

5,17110%

Effect on Equity 2017

4,289

QAR’000s

Increase / (decrease) in profit or loss Increase / (decrease) in other comprehensive income
1% CHANGE IN CURRENCY 
EXCHANGE RATE

Pound Sterling

USD

Euro

Other currencies

20182018

-

-

157

739

-

-

16

-

20172017

-

265

69

72

-

-

1

-

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(e) Operational risks 

Operational Risk is the loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from 
external events. The Bank manages its Operational Risk primarily through the Board approved Operational 
Risk Framework (ORF) consisting of the Operational Risk Policy (ORP) and the Operational Risk Committee 
(ORC), which has representation across all departments. The Bank utilizes a Basel III compliant approach 
known as ‘Operational Risk Self-Assessment’ (ORSA) process to assess, document and report the operational 
risks encountered in the course of normal business activity.
 
The ORC approves the ORSA every two years and reviews operational risks faced by various functions in the 
Bank on a regular basis throughout the year to track the status of open risks and pursuing appropriate controls 
wherever necessary. Furthermore both compliance and internal audit perform independent periodic reviews to 
assess adequacy of check and controls at any given point in time.

The Bank has a robustly documented Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP). 
These documents outline the procedures to be followed in a disaster scenario. The BCP aims to establish the 
level of impact upon the Bank’s business activity of having to operate from a different site in the event of an 
emergency or natural disaster. This includes access to critical computer systems, connectivity to local area 
network, database servers, internet, intranet and e-mails etc. This is a well-established process and takes 
place periodically throughout the year. The last Disaster Recovery (DR) test and Business Continuity (BC) was 
performed on 08 November 2018. The completion of DR & BCP is signed off by all concerned departments to 
confirm tests were successfully carried out by them as well as a report circulated to all ORC members for their 
comments and reference. Both the BCP & DR processes were independently audited by external auditors as 
per QCB requirements and were found to be thorough and well implemented.

Basic firefighting training is provided to staff fire wardens periodically (last performed on 30 December 2018) 
with the assistance of Civil Defense Authority. An evacuation drill is normally conducted annually as part of 
safety and security procedures across the branches network.

(f) Capital management

Regulatory capital
The Group’s Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to ensure investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on 
shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between 
the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a 
sound capital position.

The Group and its individually regulated operations have complied with all externally imposed capital 
requirements throughout the year.

The capital adequacy ratio of the Group is calculated in accordance with the Basel III Committee guidelines as 
adopted by the QCB. 

The Group is currently in the process of analyzing new capital requirements for Interest Rate Risk on Banking 
Book (IRRBB) and will start setting aside capital based on new standard under Pillar II from 2019 onwards.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Risk weighted assets

(f) Capital management (continued)
Regulatory capital (continued) 
The Group’s regulatory capital position under Basel III and QCB regulations at 31 December was as follows:

Had the Group not adopted IFRS 9, total capital adequacy ratio and common equity tier 1 (CET 1) capital 
adequacy ratio would have been as follows:  

COMMON EQUITY TIER 1 (CET 1) CAPITAL

Tier 1 capital

Tier 2 capital

Total regulatory capital

2018
Basel III

5,614,187

323,917

5,290,270

2017
Basel III

5,199,817

354,532

4,845,285

QAR’000s

Common equity tier 1 (CET 1) ratio

Total capital adequacy ratio

31 December 2018

18.24%

18.24%

QAR’000s

Risk weighted assets for credit risk

Risk weighted assets for market risk

Total risk weighted assets

Risk weighted assets for operational risk

Regulatory capital

2018
Basel III

1,907,929

5,614,187

51,224

30,784,141

28,824,988

2017
Basel III

1,837,956

5,199,817

40,587

30,691,827

28,813,284

QAR’000s

Total capital 
including capital 

conservation buffer 
and domestic 

systematic 
important Bank 

buffer

Tier 1 capital ratio 
including capital 

conservation buffer

CET 1 ratio without 
capital conservation 

buffer 

12.50%10.50%6.0%Minimum limit as per QCB

18.24%17.19%17.19%Actual

Total capital 
including 

conservation buffer, 
domestic systematic 

important Bank 
buffer and ICAAP 

Pillar II capital 
charge

Tier 2 capital ratio 
including capital 

conservation 
buffer

CET 1 ratio 
including capital 

conservation 
buffer

13.50%12.50%8.50%

18.24%18.24%17.19%

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. Use of estimates and judgements

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates 
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(i) Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 
the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be 
prepared on the going concern basis.

(ii) Allowances for credit losses

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Assessment of whether credit risk on the financial assets has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and incorporation of forward looking information in the measurement of ECL. Refer to note 4 (b)(v) Inputs, 
assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment of financial assets for more information.

Policy applicable upto 31 December 2017
The Group reviews its individually significant loans, advances and financing activities to customers at each 
consolidated statement of financial position date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
the consolidated income statement. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, 
the Group makes judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realisable value of collateral. 
These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting 
in future changes to the allowance. Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not 
to be impaired and all individually insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups 
of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss 
events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment 
takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to 
collateral ratios etc.), concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of unemployment, real estate 
prices indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups). Furthermore, management 
complies with all applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank regulations in this regard.

Investments in equity and debt securities are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in the significant 
accounting policies section.

(iii) Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statement of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation 
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models are taken from observable 
market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgment is required to 
establish fair values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs, such as volatility, 
discount rates etc.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

(i) Valuation of financial instruments

The Group’s accounting policy on fair value measurements is discussed in the significant accounting 
policies section.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements.

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
• Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 

are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 

not based on observable market data.

Financial instruments measured at fair value – Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by 
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

31 DECEMBER 2018

Investment securities (FVOCI/FVTPL)

31 DECEMBER 2017

Investment securities – available-for-sale (IAS 39)

Derivative assets held for risk management

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

Derivative assets held for risk management

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

Stage 2

81,990

11,035

1,427,524

11,458

12,668

94,658

11,035

4,578

1,432,102

11,458

TotalStage 3Stage 1

734,424

11,035

2,909,342

11,458

12,668

747,092

11,035

4,578

2,913,920

11,458

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

652,434

-

1,481,818

-

-

652,434

-

-

1,481,818

-

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued)
(i) Valuation of financial instruments (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value – Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year ending 31 December 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

In 2017, financial investments in level 2 above include Qatar Government Bonds amounting to QAR 283,030 
carried at amortised cost which were issued in lieu of sale of certain real estate loss and equity investments 
listed in Qatar Exchange to the Government of Qatar.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following financial instruments which are not measured at fair value are not being included in fair value 
hierarchy, as carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value, except for investment securities 
classified as amorised cost which the fair value amounts to QAR 5,101,349 thousands (2017 : QAR 
3,173,756 thousands), which is derived using level 1.

The fair value of the following financial instruments approximate their carrying values:

• Financial assets
 » Cash and balances with Central Bank
 » Due from banks and other financial institutions
 » Loans, advances and financing activities to customers

• Financial liabilities
 » Due to banks and Central Bank and other financial institutions
 » Customer deposits
 » Debt securities
 » Subordinated debt
 » Other borrowings

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short term maturity (less than three 
months), it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also 
applied to call accounts, demand deposits, savings accounts without a specific maturity and variable rate 
financial instruments.

The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated by 
comparing market interest rates when they were first recognised with current market rates offered for 
similar financial instruments. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on 
discounted cash flows using prevailing money market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and 
maturity. For quoted debt issued the fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices. For those 
notes issued where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on 
a current interest rate yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued)

(ii) Financial asset and liability classification

Policy applicable for 1 January 2018
Assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the 
contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. Refer to note 4(b) for further information.

Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017
The Group’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated at inception into 
different accounting categories in certain circumstances:

• In classifying financial assets or liabilities as trading, the Group has determined that it meets the 
description of trading assets and liabilities set out in accounting policies.

• In designating financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the Group has determined that it has 
met one of the criteria for this designation set out in accounting policies.

• In classifying financial assets as held-to-maturity, the Group has determined that it has both the positive 
intention and ability to hold the assets until their maturity date as required by accounting policies.

Details of the Group’s classification of financial assets and liabilities are given in Note 7.

(iii) Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financial instruments in qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it 
expects the hedges to be highly effective over the period of the hedging relationship.

In accounting for derivatives as cash flow hedges, the Group has determined that the hedged cash flow 
exposure relates to highly probable future cash flows.

(iv) Impairment of investments in equity and debt securities

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Assessment of whether credit risk on the financial assets has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and incorporation of forward looking information in the measurement of ECL. Refer to note 4 (b)(v) Inputs, 
assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment of financial assets for more information.

Policy applicable up to 31 December 2017
Investments in equity and debt securities are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in the 
significant accounting policies section.

(v) Useful lives of property and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful life of property and equipment for calculating 
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, physical wear 
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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6. Operating segments

For management purposes, the Group is organised into two major operating segments:

Management monitors the operating results of the operating segments separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on operating profit or loss.

(i) Information about operating segments

*There is no inter group transactions in the above segmental information.

Retail and private banking and 
wealth management

Corporate banking, treasury, 
investments and brokerage 
subsidiary

Principally handling individual customers’ deposit and current accounts, 
providing consumer loans, residential mortgages, overdrafts, credit cards 
and fund transfer facilities. Private banking and wealth management 
represents servicing high net worth individuals through a range of 
investment products, funds, credit facilities, trusts and alternative 
investments.

Principally handling loans and other credit facilities, and deposit and 
current accounts for corporate and institutional customers and providing 
money market, trading and treasury services, as well as management of 
the Group’s funding. The brokerage services are offered through the wholly 
owned subsidiary, Ahli Brokerage Company L.L.C.

2018

Net interest income

Income from investment securities

Reportable segment assets

Net fee and commission income

Other operating income

Other material non-cash items:

Reportable segment profit before tax

Foreign exchange gain - net

Total segment revenue

Impairment losses and provisions

Reportable segment liabilities

Corporate banking, 
treasury, investments 

and brokerage

Retail & private 
banking and wealth 

management

623,904

50,923

33,855,054

135,129

11,014

539,621

9,174

830,144

(120,855)

23,536,813

205,383

-

6,547,838

49,430

-

125,945

16,166

270,979

(5,338)

11,365,448

Total

829,287

50,923

40,402,892

184,559

11,014

665,566

25,340

1,101,123

(126,193)

34,902,261

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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6. Operating segments (continued)

(i) Information about operating segments (continued)

*There is no inter group transactions in the above segmental information.

2017

Net interest income

Income from investment securities

Reportable segment assets

Net fee and commission income

Other operating income

Other material non-cash items:

Reportable segment profit before tax

Foreign exchange gain - net

Total segment revenue

Impairment losses and provisions

Reportable segment liabilities

Corporate banking, 
treasury, investments 

and brokerage

Retail & private 
banking and wealth 

management

637,557

6,627

33,634,960

123,550

6,484

541,865

6,524

780,742

(63,163)

23,921,556

196,886

-

6,248,440

50,063

-

97,847

16,721

263,670

(22,278)

10,668,000

Total

834,443

6,627

39,883,400

173,613

6,484

639,712

23,245

1,044,412

(85,441)

34,589,556

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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7. Financial assets and liabilities 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities:

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities (ISA 39):

2018

Cash and balances with central Bank

Derivative assets

Investment securities:

At amortised cost

Derivative liabilities

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Debt securities

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers

Measured at fair value

Due to banks and central Bank

Customer deposits

Other borrowings

Amortised 
cost

Debt 
instruments

Equity 
instruments

Fair value through profit 
or loss 

Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Equity 
instruments

Derivative 
Instruments

Debt 
instruments

2,405,483

-

5,128,065

-

495,270

3,628,605

33,945,242

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,099,682

27,300,910

-

38,934,140

5,729,432

21,594,419

2,497,516

-

-

599,828

599,828

-

-

-

-

-

118,821

118,821

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,668

-

11, 035

-

-

11, 035

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,775

15,775

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,668

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value

Total 
carrying 
Amount

2,405,483

12,668

5,101,349

11,035

495,270

3,628,605

33,956,277

4,099,682

27,300,910

734,424

39,654,516

5,729,432

21,594,419

2,497,516

2,405,483

12,668

5,128,065

11,035

495,270

3,628,605

33,956,277

4,099,682

27,300,910

734,424

39,681,232

5,729,432

21,594,419

2,497,516

QAR’000s

31 DECEMBER 2017

Cash and balances with central Bank

Derivative assets held for risk management

Investment securities:

At amortised cost

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

Certificate of deposits and commercial papers

Debt securities

Due from banks

Loans and advances to customers

Measured at fair value

Due to banks and central Bank

Customer deposits

Other borrowings

Other 
amortised 

cost
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss
Available-

for-sale
Held-to-
maturity

-

-

-

-

418,534

3,624,368

33,785,816

1,979,872

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,578

-

11,458

-

-

11,458

2,202,199

-

-

2,202,199

3,982,103

23,568,578

2,192,233

-

28,936,299

-

30,916,171

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,578

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,190,527

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,909,341

2,909,341

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,190,527

-

-

-

Fair value

Total 
carrying 
Amount

1,979,872

4,578

3,173,756

11,458

418,534

3,624,368

33,797,274

2,202,199

28,936,299

2,909,341

39,206,045

3,982,103

23,568,578

2,192,233

1,979,872

4,578

3,190,527

11,458

418,534

3,624,368

33,797,274

2,202,199

28,936,299

2,909,341

39,222,816

3,982,103

23,568,578

2,192,233

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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8. Cash and balances with Central Bank

9. Due from banks

10. Loans and advances to customers

*The cash reserve with QCB is mandatory reserve not available for use in the Group’s day to day operations.

a) By type

The aggregate amount of non-performing loans and advances to customers (excluding performing loans under 
watch list) amounted QAR 470.67 million, which represents 1.69% of total loans and advances to customers 
(2017: QAR 292.04 million, 0.99% of total loans and advances to customers).

Cash

Other balances with QCB

Cash reserve with QCB*

2018

978,021

2,405,483

170,599

1,256,863

2017

884,248

1,979,872

132,672

962,952

QAR’000s

NOTE 1

Government and related agencies

Retail

Corporate

2018

21,803,277

27,300,910

1,258,512

4,239,121

2017

21,094,324

28,936,299

2,873,379

4,968,596

QAR’000s

Current accounts

Allowance for impairment – IFRS9

Placements

2018

4,074,669

4,099,682

25,403

(390)

2017

2,186,400

2,202,199

15,799

-

QAR’000s

Loans

Bills discounted

Acceptances

Allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers – Performing (Stage 1 and 2)

Interest in suspense

Net loans and advances to customers (Note 10(a)(i))

Overdrafts

Reclassified AFS Securities (IAS 39)

Other loans

Deferred profit

Allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers – Non performing (Stage 3)

2018

2,320,116

-

81,539

(2,910)

285,574

24,535,086

670,225

325,079

27,932,045

299,583

43,068

27,300,910

2017

3,788,569

20,865

79,257

(4,704)

353,307

24,815,729

365,034

287,817

29,357,271

50,400

62,961

28,936,299

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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10. Loans and advances to customers (continued)

b) By industry

c) Movement in impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers (excluding ECL for 
customers in Stage 1 and 2)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018:

Government and related agencies

Personal

Commercial

Less: deferred profit

Contracting

Industry

Services

Allowance for impairment of loans and advances to customers

Real estate

AcceptancesOverdrafts Bills discountedLoans

-

-

271,481

34,461

807,433

25,809

983,861

290,295

14,263

325,079

4,874

-

52,273

2,320,116

85,522

74,923

-

-

553,395

87,573

451,172

2,819,382

10,542,518

1,434,319

-

670,225

29,257

-

551,597

24,535,086

3,500,286

5,235,812

TotalOther loans

1,258,605

3,176,988

225,433

(2,910)

1,846,950

27,300,910

618,149

27,932,045

3,264,115

(628,225)

5,110,128

-

74,031

6,963

302

16

81,539

227

-

QAR’000s

AT 31 DECEMBER 2017:

Government and related agencies

Personal

Commercial

Less: deferred profit

Contracting

Collective impairment allowance

Industry

Services

Specific impairment of loans and advances to customers

Real estate

Acceptances
Bills 

discounted
Reclassified 

AFS securitiesOverdraftsLoans

-

-

220,086

48,648

-

545

281,453

38,066

10,860

287,817

8,223

-

1,360

365,034

43,610

-

-

-

-

-

2,166,387706,992

103,6042,998,156

912,64910,810,049

324,1851,610,652

20,865

20,865

-

-

42,235609,967

3,788,56924,815,729

159,4733,052,571

80,0365,027,342

TotalOther loans

2,873,379

3,176,988

225,433

(4,704)

2,021,883

(50,400)

28,936,299

685,345

29,357,271

3,264,115

(365,868)

5,110,128

-

74,683

1,196

332

58

79,257

238

2,750

QAR’000s

Balance at 1 January

Provisions made during the year

Balance at 31 December

Adjustment for IFRS 9

Written off during the year

Recoveries during the year

2018

(119,372)

(145,661)

(24,996)

416,268

474,303

202,403

328,642

2017

-

-

(27,596)

336,412

416,268

107,452

416,268

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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10. Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Movement in impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers (continued)

c) Movement in impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers (excluding ECL for customers 
in Stage 1 and 2) (continued)

The movement includes the effect of interest suspended on loans and advances to customers as per QCB 
regulations.

The above impairment provisions include collective impairment on the Group’s loans, advances and financing 
activities to customers’ portfolio for QAR NIL (2017: QAR 50,400 thousands).

Included in the above movement in impairment provisions of loans and advances to customers is an amount of 
QAR 20,599 thousands (2017: QAR 13,182 thousands) as per the QCB regulations.

By internal business segment

Government and related agencies Balance at 1 January 2018

Amounts written off

Provision made during the year

Provision made during the year

Amounts written off

Corporate Adjustment for IFRS 9

Balance at 31 December 2018

Recoveries during the year

Recoveries during the year

Balance at 1 January 2017

Balance at 31 December 2017

RetailCorporate

(50,400)

94,681

(25,283)

(68,972)

233,961

(2,313)

(23,057)

243,164

273,289

(1,939)

93,248

142,979

273,289

(137,447)

55,408

142,979

(8,214)

52,044

32,296

-

170,107

-

Total

(119,372)

328,642

(27,596)

(24,996)

336,412

416,268

416,268

(145,661)

107,452

202,403

-

QAR’000s

Balance at 1 January 2018

Adjusted balance at beginning year

Adjustments

Recoveries during the year

Balance at 31 December 2018

Adjustments as a result of adopting IFRS 9

Charge for the year

Written off during the year

Net impairment losses during the year

Stage 2Stage 2Stage 2

Corporates Retail Total

Stage 1Stage 1Stage 1

53,681

43,500

-

43,500

1,922

-

-

-

51,759

43,500

-

43,500

137,963

2,500

-

2,500

-

-

-

-

137,963

2,500

-

2,500

10,093

63,774

58,980

-

166,254

10,093

12,015

21,277

-

33,292

-

51,759

37,703

-

132,962

109,279

247,242

116,413

-

133,329

40,307

40,307

5,787

-

46,094

68,972

206,935

(122,200)

-

87,235

Stage 3Stage 3Stage 3

-

202,403

(145,661)

177,407

-

32,296

(137,447)

9,239

-

170,107

(8,214)

168,168

296,896

296,896

-

(24,996)

328,642

222,889

222,889

-

(23,057)

94,681

74,007

74,007

-

(1,939)

233,961

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Available-for-sale

Impairment loss

Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Held to maturity

Total

Investments measured at amortised cost (AC)

Total

2018

615,603

-

5,862,489

118,821

-

(6,850)

5,134,915

5,869,339

2017

-

3,190,527

6,099,869

-

3,020,093

(110,751)

-

6,210,620

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. Investment securities

Investment securities as at 31 December 2018 totaled QAR 5,862,489 thousands (2017: QAR 
6,099,869 thousands). The analysis of investment securities is detailed below:

a) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

b) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

During the year, the Group recorded dividend of QAR 6,448 thousands on these securities.

c) Amortised Cost

d) Available-for-sale (IAS 39)

State of Qatar debt securities

Other debt securities -1,055,165

383,0303,696,720

383,0304,751,885

--

--

--

UnquotedQuoted UnquotedQuoted

Mutual funds and equities

66,21652,605

66,21652,605

20172018

--

--

QAR’000s

UnquotedQuoted UnquotedQuotedAS AT 31 DECEMBER

State of Qatar debt securities

Other debt securities

Equities

-343,526

-

15,775

256,302

599,828

15,775-

20172018

--

-

-

-

-

--

QAR’000s

UnquotedQuoted UnquotedQuotedAS AT 31 DECEMBER

Equities

Less: impairment loss

Other debt securities

State of Qatar debt securities/T-Bills

Total

Mutual funds

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20172018

1,383,030

1,427,524

-

847,060

1,481,818

7,743

101,489

(56,995)

-

82,154

(53,756)

598,617

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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11. Investment securities (continued)   

12. Property and equipment

e) Held to maturity (IAS 39)

UnquotedQuoted UnquotedQuotedBY ISSUER

State of Qatar debt securities

Total

Fixed rate securities

Other debt securities

BY INTEREST RATE

Floating rate securities

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20172018

-

-

-

824,821

-

3,190,527

-

-

-

2,365,706

3,190,527

3,190,527

QAR’000s

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2017

Balance at 1 January 2017

Acquisitions / transfers

Depreciation for the year

Disposals / write offs

Disposals / write offs

Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 31 December 2018

Acquisitions / transfers

Depreciation for the year

Disposals / write offs

Disposals / write offs

Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 31 December 2017

Carrying amounts

Balance at 31 December 2018

Motor
Vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture and 
equipment

Land and 
building

15688,285

-

153

-

-

156

-

156

-

3

156

-

-

156

-

-

5,280

64,002

(636)

8,314

92,043

(1,458)

76,987

(1,522)

6,765

101,449

(636)

10,042

69,309

22,734

24,462

160,411216,081

2,220

136,020

-

9,363

162,631

-

158,951

-

13,568

167,524

-

4,893

149,588

13,043

8,573

2,780

41,165

(1,932)

6,504

218,861

-

53,884

-

6,458

217,091

(243)

162

47,623

171,238

163,207

Total
Capital Work in 

Progress

516,526

10,280

241,340

(2,568)

24,181

525,284

(1,458)

289,978

(1,522)

26,794

537,813

(879)

15,097

266,676

258,608

247,835

51,593

-

-

-

-

51,593

-

-

-

-

51,593

-

-

-

51,593

51,593

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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13. Other assets

14. Due to banks and central Bank

15. Customer Deposits

* This represents the value of the properties acquired in settlement of debts which are stated at their 
acquisition value. The estimated market values of these properties as at 31 December 2018 are not materially 
different from the carrying values.

Interest receivable

Sundry debtors

Profit receivable (Islamic)

Advances and deposits

Prepaid expenses

Repossessed collateral*

Positive fair value of derivatives (Note 30)

Others

2018

3,770

1,574

271,798

37,901

23,707

132,681

12,668

486,493

2,394

2017

4,451

1,855

196,587

32,063

25,050

132,681

4,578

406,553

9,288

QAR’000s

Balances due to central Bank

Deposits

Current accounts

2018

20,172

5,729,432

728,524

4,980,736

2017

14,392

3,982,103

1,820,513

2,147,198

QAR’000s

Current and call deposits

Time deposits

Government

Retail

Saving deposits

Government and semi government agencies

Corporate

2018

1,035,712

21,594,419

2,943,478

7,371,213

2,920,387

17,638,320

4,554,142

21,594,419

6,725,586

2017

1,056,800

23,568,578

3,457,282

7,113,280

2,926,163

19,585,615

6,438,149

23,568,578

6,559,867

QAR’000s

a) By type

b) By sector

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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16. (a) Debt securities

16. (b) Other borrowings

3.625% Euro Medium Term Note – Maturing in April 2021

3.50% Euro Medium Term Note – Maturing in February 2022

2018

1,813,568

1,815,037

3,628,605

2017

1,811,537

1,812,831

3,624,368

QAR’000s

Term loan facilities

2018

2,497,516

2017

2,192,233

QAR’000s

The table below shows the other borrowings of the Bank as at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Currency

QAR

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

USD

3 MONTH LIBOR +180 Bps

Total

3 MONTH LIBOR + 140 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR +100 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR + 85 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR + 95 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR + 150 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR + 85 Bps

3 MONTH LIBOR + 100 Bps

October 2019

September 2019

June 2020

-

-

October 2020

June 2020

December 2020

October 2019

September 2019

June 2020

December 2018

October 2018

-

-

-

149,716

2,497,516

709,800

910,000

-

-

182,000

182,000

364,000

299,433

2,192,233

709,800

910,000

91,000

182,000

-

-

-

Coupon Rate 2018 2018

Maturity MaturityAmount Amount

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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17. Other liabilities

18. Capital and reserves

Interest payable

Bills payable

Cash margins

Social and sports fund

Others

Other provisions (Refer (i) below)

Unearned income (Commission received in advance)

QE clients payable

Due in relation to acceptances

Total

Accrued expense payable

Negative fair value of derivatives (Note 30)

Dividend payable

Staff pension fund

Allowance for impairment for loan commitments and financial guarantees

2018

83,168

11,035

6,994

1,644

17,094

224,070

12,376

92,435

16,639

37,657

47,722

80,598

508

325,079

957,019

2017

76,299

11,458

8,554

1,391

-

152,358

7,629

70,561

15,993

34,522

44,014

92,577

567

287,817

803,740

QAR’000s

(i) Other provisions

(a) Share capital

At 31 December 2018 the authorised share capital comprised 210.36 million ordinary shares (2017: 200.34 
million). These instruments have a par value of QAR 10. All issued shares are fully paid. 

Bonus issue
On 20 February 2018, the Bank issued bonus shares (ordinary shares) at the rate of one share for every twenty 
shares held by the ordinary shareholders upon obtaining approval from the shareholders in the Annual General 
Meeting held on 20 February 2018 .

On issue at the beginning of the reporting year

In millions of shares

New shares issued (bonus issue)

On issue at 31 December

2018

10.02

210.36

200.34

2017

9.53

200.34

190.81

Ordinary shares

Total 2017

9,619

44,014

40,992

(6,597)

50,611

Balance at 1 January

Provisions paid and written off during the year

Provisions made/transferred during the year

Balance at 31 December

Total 2018Legal provision

8,073

47,722

500

526

44,014

(4,365)

26

-

52,087526

OthersStaff indemnity

-

-

7,573

47,196

-

-

43,988

(4,365)

-51,561

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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18. Capital and reserves (continued)

At 1 January

Realised during the year

Net amount of impairment transferred to profit or loss

At 31 December

Adoption for IFRS 9 (Note 3(y)(i))

Fair value (losses) during the year

Amortised during the year on reclassification to loans and receivables

2018

(16,407)

(7,416)

-

12,530

(196)

-

(11,489)

2017

-

(23,160)

68

11,801

504

23,317

12,530

Available-for-sale investments

(b) Legal reserve

In accordance with Qatar Central Bank’s Law No. 13 of 2012 as amended, 10% of the net profit for the year 
is required to be transferred to legal reserve until the legal reserve equals 100% of the paid up capital. This 
reserve is not available for distribution except in circumstances specified in the Qatar Commercial Companies’ 
Law and is subject to the approval of QCB. In the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has transferred 
QAR 66.56 million being 10% of the net profits (2017: QAR 63.97 million).

(c) Risk reserve

In accordance with Qatar central Bank circular 102/2011, 2.5% of the net loans and advances to customers is 
required to be maintained, except for facilities granted to government and facilities against cash collateral. The 
total amount of the transfer made to the risk reserve was QAR Nil (2017: QAR 21,573 thousands).

(d) Fair value reserves

This reserve comprises the fair value changes recognised on available-for-sale financial assets / and the 
effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to 
hedged transactions that have not yet affected profit or loss

(e) Proposed bonus shares and dividend

A cash dividend of QAR 1 per share amounting to QAR. 210,360 thousands has been proposed by the 
Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: QAR 1 per share amounting to QAR 200,343 
thousands).

The Board of Directors have also proposed the issue of bonus shares at the rate of 1 share for every 10 shares 
held by ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2018 amounting to QAR. 210,360 thousands (2017: one 
shares for every twenty shares amounting to QAR 100,171 thousands).

The above proposed cash dividend and issue of bonus shares is subject to the approval of the shareholders in 
their Annual General Meeting.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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19. Interest income

20. Interest expense

21. Fee and commission income

The amounts reported above include interest income , calculated using the effective interest method, that 
relate to the following items:

The amounts reported above include interest expense, calculated using the effective interest method, on 
financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Balances with Qatar Central Bank

Loans and advances to customers

Due from banks

Debt securities

2018

46,409

1,744,638

5,403

1,464,822

228,004

2017

21,375

1,599,796

14,713

1,328,015

235,693

QAR’000s

Financial assets measured at amortised cost /(2017: HTM IAS 39)

Financial assets measured at fair value /(2017: AFS IAS 39)

Total

2018

25,531

1,719,107

1,744,638

2017

151,644

1,448,152

1,599,796

QAR’000s

Balances with Qatar Central Bank

Others

Due to banks

Customer deposits

2018

46,442

915,351

45,980

210,942

611,987

2017

56,080

765,353

25,373

182,228

501,672

QAR’000s

Credit related fees

Commission on unfunded facilities

Brokerage fees

Others

Banking services

2018

14,230

3,112

191,143

97,035

64,170

12,596

2017

8,224

10,230

180,817

89,350

63,975

8,408

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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22. Foreign exchange gain - net

23. Income from investment securities

24. Other operating income

25. Staff costs

Dealing in foreign currencies

Revaluation of assets and liabilities

2018

21

25,319

25,340

2017

(6)

23,251

23,245

QAR’000s

Net gains on investments/ Mark to Market of FVTPL (IFRS9)

Dividend income

2018

6,648

44,275

50,923

2017

2,610

4,017

6,627

QAR’000s

Rental income

Others

2018

5,365

5,649

11,014

2017

994

5,490

6,484

QAR’000s

Basic salaries

Staff indemnity costs

Others

Staff pension fund costs

Training

2018

3,520

314

172,779

76,963

7,573

84,409

2017

3,404

387

182,694

79,130

9,619

90,154

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



 145www.ahlibank.com.qa

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. Other Expenses

27. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Professional fees

Printing and stationary

Board of directors’ remuneration

Computer and IT costs

Communication and insurance

Others

Occupancy and maintenance

Marketing Expenses

2018

14,682

37,008

15,302

5,104

7,124

2,652

12,545

112,404

17,987

2017

15,405

29,658

16,521

3,541

8,363

2,644

12,120

109,771

21,519

QAR’000s

Profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Bank - QAR ‘000

Basic and Diluted Earnings per share (QAR)

Weighted average number of outstanding shares

2018

210,360,434

665,566

3.16

2017

210,360,434

639,712

3.04

QAR’000s

Weighted average number of shares at 1 January

Weighted average number of shares at 31 December

Bonus shares issued on 20 February 2018

2018

10,017,163

200,343,271

210,360,434

2017

10,017,163

200,343,271

210,360,434

QAR’000s

Earnings per share of the Bank is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of 
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year:

*There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at any time during the year, therefore, the diluted 
earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share.

The weighted average number of shares (2017 adjusted) have been calculated as follows:

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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28. Contingent liabilities and other commitments

29. Cash and cash equivalents

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Total

Interest rate swaps

2018

841,680

2,069,418

2,911,098

2017

918,960

1,066,379

1,985,339

QAR’000s

Cash and balances with banks

Money market placements

2018

5,052,669

474,865

5,527,534

2017

3,070,400

227,422

3,297,822

QAR’000s

Unutilized facilities-cancellable and non cancellable

Letters of credit

Guarantees

2018

646,477

8,397,869

11,048,219

20,092,565

2017

777,902

8,238,506

9,408,427

18,424,835

QAR’000s
a) Contingent liabilities 

Unused facilities
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. 
Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contractual amounts do not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements.

Guarantees and Letters of credit
Letters of credit and guarantees commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers contingent upon 
their failure to perform under the terms of the contract. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the 
same risk as loans. Credit guarantees can be in the form of irrevocable letters of credits, advance payment 
guarantees and endorsements liabilities from bills rediscounted.

*Cash and balances with central Bank do not include the mandatory cash reserve.

b) Other commitments

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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30. Derivatives

At 31 December 2018:

At 31 December 2017:

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate swaps

Derivatives held for trading/fair value hedges:

Derivatives held for trading/fair value hedges:

Total

Total

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts

1-5 years

Notional / expected amount by term to maturity

Within 
3 months

Negative
fair value

Positive
fair value

728,253

918,960

1,630,129

343,995

11,035

11,458

12,668

4,578

728,000

918,960

-

-

160

8,388

2,590

-

253

-

1,630,129

343,995

10,875

3,070

10,078

4,578

More than 
5 years3-12 months

National
amount

-

-

552,716

722,384

2,911,098

1,985,339

-

-

113,680

-

841,680

918,960

-

-

439,036

722,384

2,069,418

1,066,379

QAR’000s

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative 
financial instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where 
payments are dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial instruments, reference 
rates or indices.

These include financial options, futures and forwards, interest rate swaps and currency swaps, which create 
rights and obligations that have the effect of transferring between the parties of the instrument one or more 
of the financial risks inherent in an underlying primary financial instrument. On inception, a derivative financial 
instrument gives one party a contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another 
party under conditions that are potentially favourable, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets 
or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable. However, they 
generally do not result in a transfer of the underlying primary financial instrument on inception of the contract, 
nor does such a transfer necessarily take place on maturity of the contract. Some instruments embody both a 
right and an obligation to make an exchange. Because the terms of the exchange are determined on inception 
of the derivative instruments, as prices in financial markets change, those terms may become either favourable 
or unfavourable.

Derivative product types
Forwards exchange contracts are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency at a 
specific price and date in the future. Forwards exchange contracts are customised contracts transacted in the 
over-the-counter market.

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest or foreign currency differentials 
based on a specific notional amount. For interest rate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and 
floating rate interest payments based on a notional value in a single currency.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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30. Derivatives (continued)

Derivatives held for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to customer driven transactions as well as positioning 
and arbitrage. Positioning involves managing positions with the expectation of profiting from favorable 
movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price differentials 
between markets or products.

Derivatives held for hedging purposes
The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk.

As part of its asset and liability management, the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to 
reduce its exposure to currency and interest rate movements. This is achieved by hedging specific financial 
instruments and forecasted transactions, as well as strategic hedging against overall consolidated statement 
of financial position exposures.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against specifically identified currency risks. In 
addition, the Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the interest rate risk arising from specifically 
identified fixed rate exposures. The Group also uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the cash flow risks 
arising on certain floating rate liabilities. In all such cases the hedging relationship and objective, including 
details of the hedged item and hedging instrument, are formally documented and the transactions are 
accounted for as fair value or cash flow hedges. Hedging of interest rate risk is also carried out by monitoring 
the duration of assets and liabilities and entering into interest rate swaps to hedge net interest rate exposures. 
Since hedging of net positions does not qualify for special hedge accounting, related derivatives are 
accounted for the same way as trading instruments.

31. Fiduciary activities
The Group provides investment brokerage and custody services to customers. Those assets that are held in 
a fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements and amount to QAR 192,307 
thousands at 31 December 2018 (2017: QAR 225,886 thousands).

32. Social and sports fund
During the year, the Group made an appropriation of QAR 16,639 thousands (31 December 2017: QAR 15,993 
thousands) representing 2.5% of the net profit for the year ended 31 December 2018, pursuant to the Law 
No.13 of 2008 and further clarifications for the Law issued in 2010.

33. Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, Related parties include entities over 
which the Group exercises significant influence, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel 
of the Group.

The Group enters into transactions with major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of 
the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by such parties. All the loans, 
advances and financing activities to related parties are given at market rates and these are performing and free 
of any allowance for possible credit losses

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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33. Related parties (continued)

The balances of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

a) Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel (other than Board of Directors) and their immediate relatives have transacted with 
the Group during the year as follows:

Key management personnel compensation for the year ended comprised:

Shareholders
Board of 

directors Shareholders
Board of 

directors

Assets:

Customer deposits

Board of Directors’ remuneration

Interest and fee and commission income

Unfunded items:

Loans and advances to customers

Income statement items:

Liabilities:

Interest and fee and commission expense

Letters of guarantee, letters of credit, commitments and indirect credit facilities

-

46,215

-

773,220

59,101

15,099

1,792,219

-

-

2,163,487

12,545

42,449

20172018

-

53,255

-

776,274

10,372

12,022

3,760,193

-

-

540,477

12,120

34,747

QAR’000s

Other loans

2018

4,611

2017

4,709

QAR’000s

Salaries and short term employee benefits

Post employment benefits

2018

8,143

18,571

26,714

2017

8,474

18,976

27,450

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018



150 Ahlibank Q.P.S.C. Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Financial statements of the parent Bank

a) Statement of Financial Position – Parent Bank

AS AT 31 DECEMBER

ASSETS

Property and equipment

Share capital

Certificate of deposits and commercial paper

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Loans and advances to customers

Fair value reserve

Other borrowings

Cash and balances with central Bank

Other assets

Legal reserve

Customer deposits

Investment securities

LIABILITIES

Retained earnings

Other liabilities

Due from banks

TOTAL ASSETS

Risk reserve

Debt securities

Investment in subsidiary

EQUITY

Due to banks and central Bank

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES

2018

2,405,482

486,342

1,655,936

21,640,820

5,862,489

1,131,157

950,165

247,189

2,103,604

495,270

40,452,094

27,300,910

(11,489)

2,497,516

4,099,682

40,452,094

631,078

3,628,605

50,000

5,729,432

5,510,286

34,941,808

2017

1,979,871

405,029

1,589,767

23,604,888

6,099,869

1,069,888

802,816

258,206

2,003,433

418,534

39,931,473

28,936,299

12,365

2,192,233

2,202,199

39,931,473

631,078

3,624,368

50,000

3,982,103

5,306,531

34,624,942

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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34. Financial statements of parent Bank (continued)

b) Income Statement – Parent Bank

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Interest income

Depreciation

Foreign exchange gain - net

Other expenses

Net operating income

Interest expense

Impairment loss on loans and advances to customers

Income from investment securities

Net fee and commission income

Profit for the year

Net interest income

Net impairment losses on investment securities

Other operating income

Staff costs

2018

(916,030)

(126,193)

50,923

170,935

662,456

1,744,480

(23,916)

25,340

(103,687)

1,086,122

828,450

-

11,014

(169,872)

2017

(766,360)

(66,674)

6,627

165,515

638,948

1,599,796

(26,440)

23,245

(104,270)

1,035,307

833,436

(18,767)

6,484

(180,208)

QAR’000s

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018
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